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Making a bold vision a new reality 

The future of mail begins now. 

A new law, the Postal Accountability and 
Enhancement Act, is changing the way we 
operate and conduct business, ushering in a new 
era of accountability and competition. 

We are seizing this historic opportunity to build 
a bold vision of a profitable United States Postal 
Service that delivers for future generations. 

We will be competitive. We will respond effec-
tively to market and operational conditions and 
the needs of customers. Our Intelligent Mail 
technology will improve service and productivity 
and provide more information about the mail than 
ever before. New service standards will assure 
customers of reliability, predictability, and speed. 

We will raise the bar. We will increase account-
ability for us and the mailing industry. With a fully 
engaged workforce committed to our success 
and the support of our industry partners, we are 
building a Postal Service that will deliver service, 
quality, and dependability for generations to 
come. 

We will add new value to mail. We will foster 
growth and innovation in the mailing industry. We 
will find new ways to make the mail work better 
for our customers, large and small. We will use 
knowledge to our customers’ advantage. 

As we enter this new chapter in our history, our 
mission remains the same — providing trusted, 
affordable, universal service. That promise will 
guide everything we do as we make our bold 
vision a new reality. 

Delivering today’s mail. 

OUR MISSION:  Provide trusted, affordable, universal service 

OUR VISION:  Be profitable to deliver for future generations 

John Potter 
Postmaster General, CEO 

2 | 2007 Annual Report United States Postal Service 



  

    

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table of contents 

3 2007 Financial Highlights 

4 A Letter from the Postmaster General, CEO and 
Chairman of the Board of Governors 

6 2007 Year in Review 

8 Adding new value to mail 

9 Delivering for future generations 

10 Board of Governors 

11 The Executive Committee 

12 A Message from the Audit and Finance 
Committee 

13 A Message from the Chief Financial Officer and 
Executive Vice President 

15 Financial Section Part I 

21 Financial Section Part II 

35 Financial Section Part III 

38 Report of Independent Auditors 

39 Financial Statements 

44 Notes to the Financial Statements 

53 Operating Statistics 

57 Financial History Summary 

58 Selected Quarterly Financial Data 

58 Glossary 

60 2008 Postage Stamps 

2007 Financial highlights 

Years Ended September 30 Percent Change From Preceding Year 
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions, audited) 

Operating revenue $ 74,778 $ 72,650 $ 69,907 2.9% 3.9% 1.3% 
Operating expenses $ 80,105 $ 71,681 $ 68,281 11.8% 5.0% 3.7% 
(Loss) Income from Operations $ (5,327) $ 969 $ 1,626 

Operating margin (7.1%) 1.3% 2.3% 

Net (loss) income $ (5,142) $ 900 $ 1,445 

Purchase of capital property 
and equipment $ 2,715 $ 2,630 $ 2,317 3.2% 13.5% 37.5% 

Debt $ 4,200 $ 2,100 $ – 

Interest expense * $ 10 $ 5 $ 4 

Capital contributions of U.S. government $ 3,034 $ 3,034 $ 3,034 

Retained (deficit) earnings since reorganization $ (1,900) $ 3,242 $ 2,342 

Total Net Capital $ 1,134 $ 6,276 $ 5,376 

(Unaudited) 

Number of career employees 684,762 696,138 704,716 (1.6%) (1.2%) (0.4%) 
Mail volume (pieces in millions) 212,234 213,138 211,743 (0.4%) 0.7% 2.7% 
New delivery points served 1,818,326 1,847,831 2,006,577 

* Excluding interest expense on deferred retirement obligations in 2006 and 2005. 
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A Letter from the Postmaster General, CEO and the 

Chairman of the Board of Governors 

T o the President, members of Congress, 
postal customers, postal employees, and 
the American people: Your United States 

Postal Service had another excellent year! 

The results are a credit to postal employees 
across the nation who once again raised 
performance levels. We achieved record levels 
of service for First-Class Mail. Express Mail and 
Priority Mail remained strong, setting the stage 
for further advances in 2008. 

How did we do it? The postal team pulled 
together, refocused on the basics, and concen-
trated on business fundamentals — getting 
them right every day. We analyzed the myriad 
of operational data produced by our equipment 
and pinpointed opportunities for improvement. 
As a result, we tightened up mail processing and 
delivery processes. By increasing efficiencies, 
we were able to hit our stride, eliminating costs 
and driving up total factor productivity for an 
unprecedented eighth straight year. 

There was nothing easy about 2007. We 
overcame a new rate change that caused major 
mailers to reexamine and alter their mailing plans. 
Because our operations managers reacted quickly 
to the shift from flat mail to letter mail, we did not 
lose ground, and we were able to get ahead of 
the curve, laying the groundwork for continuous 
improvement next year. 

We are excited about options and alternatives offered by the new law... 

which allow us more freedom to compete in the package business. 
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Without question, 2007 had the potential to 
be a very contentious year. All our major labor 
contracts expired and had to be renegotiated. 
The outcome of collective bargaining was not 
preordained, particularly in view of the success 
of the Postal Service and its employees in recent 
years. With that in mind, we are very proud that, 
together with our union presidents and manage-
ment association leadership, we were able to 
build a common understanding about the complex 
issues the Postal Service faces in the future. 

Notably, the new negotiated contracts increase 
employee contributions to their health benefit 
programs, moving the Postal Service closer to 
the rest of the federal government in this area. 
We also achieved work rule breakthroughs 
that provide management with added flexibility 
necessary in today’s competitive environment. 
At the same time, the contracts provide our 
employees with fair pay and benefits for their 
commitment to continue to meet the challenges 
of improving service, safety, and productivity in 
the coming years. 

Speaking of challenges, we stepped up our 
efforts in 2007 in research, technology, and 
new equipment. The Intelligent Mail Barcode will 
offer mailers improved service quality, visibility, 
and cost data about individual mailings that was 
never before available, while increasing efficiency 
for the Postal Service. Our plans call for full 
implementation of the Intelligent Mail Barcode 
in 2009. And the upcoming deployment of the 
automated Flats Sequencing System is another 
significant tool for improving service and the 
efficiency of our processing and delivery systems. 

Beyond the challenges of negotiations, the 
marketplace, and technology, the most significant 
event of the year was enactment of the Postal 
Accountability and Enhancement Act, signed 
into law by President Bush in December 2006. 
Drafted to respond to the outdated Postal Service 
business model established in 1970, the new law 
attempts to provide a more modern approach to 
the competitive pressures of increasing Internet 
usage, new advertising channels, and traditional 
package service providers. 

The new law, aimed at preserving universal 
service, did have a financial impact on us this 
year. We finished the year with an income of 
more than $1.6 billion, before taking the financial 
impact of the legislation into account. However, 
the new law assigned escrow funding we set 
aside last year, and an additional $5.4 billion 
payment, to a new retiree health benefits fund. 
Those payments changed our bottom line, which 
now reflects a net loss of $5.1 billion. We will 
make additional annual payments of $5.4 to 
$5.8 billion to the retiree health benefits fund 
until 2017. When these payments are complete, 
we will have substantially funded this obligation. 
But in the interim we will bear substantial costs 
that will have to be made up by revenue increases 
as well as operating efficiencies. 

Besides annual financial payments, the new law 
raises the bar on how we manage our business. 
Ratemaking and pricing change dramatically, with 
price caps based on the Consumer Price Index af-
fecting 90 percent of our products and services. 
There are also requirements for modern service 
standards and service measurement systems 
for each class of mail, and potential monetary 
penalties if we do not meet our goals. The law 
also calls for a new level of financial transparency, 
requiring compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
in 2010 and granting the new Postal Regulatory 
Commission subpoena authority. 

Many of the details that support implementa-
tion of the new law are still being developed. 
Throughout this process, we are working closely 
with the Postal Regulatory Commission and all 
postal stakeholders to live up to the spirit of the 
law and to get it in place as quickly as practical. 

We are excited about options and alternatives 
offered by the new law. We look forward to 
modernizing our business model and implement-
ing a new pricing model that will provide our 
customers with more predictable and consistent 
price adjustments in today’s dynamic economy 
and which will allow us more freedom to compete 
in the package business. 

Coming off an excellent year, we approach 2008 
with a strong base and the momentum to build on 
the success of 2007. Working with employees, 
the Postal Regulatory Commission, major mailers, 
consumers, and all of our stakeholders, we will 
continue our efforts to support our mission of 
universal service at affordable rates by seeing 
that United States Postal Service remains healthy 
and strong for many years to come. 

John E. Potter 
Postmaster General, Chief Executive Officer 

James C. Miller III 
Chairman, Board of Governors 
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2007 Year in Review 

For the third year in a row, Americans rated the 

Postal Service as the most trusted federal agency... 

New postal law 
The Postal Act of 2006 was the first major legis-
lative change to our organization since 1971, 
when the Post Office Department became the 
U.S. Postal Service. Its provisions set us on a 
new path with new opportunities for growth. 
The new law gives us flexibility to adjust prices 
and product offerings promptly in response 
to dynamic market conditions and changing 
customer needs. In addition, many of the provi-
sions of Sarbanes-Oxley now will apply to the 
Postal Service. 

Record-breaking service 
We delivered our best service ever. National 
on-time performance scores for the delivery of 
First-Class Mail were at all-time highs for all 
categories. Overnight service reached 96 percent, 
as measured independently by IBM Global 
Business Services.* We also achieved our eighth 
straight year of positive total factor productiv-
ity, which measures the growth in the ratio of 
resources we use to the products and services 
they produce. 

Customer outreach 
We worked closely with our mailing industry 
partners through the Mailers Technical Advisory 
Committee, Postal Customer Councils, the 
National Postal Forum and other groups to better 
align customer mail preparation with postal 
operations. We shared with mailers our vision for 
the future of processing flat-size mail and bring-
ing the same efficiency to the sorting of flat-size 
mail that now exists for letter mail. 

* The process measures First-Class Mail from the time it’s deposited into a collection box until it’s delivered to a home or business. 
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Most-trusted agency 
For the third year in a row, Americans rated the 
Postal Service as the No. 1 agency they trust to 
protect their privacy, according to a national study 
by the Ponemon Institute. The Postal Service 
was one of the few federal agencies to increase 
its customer satisfaction and trust scores. In a 
separate Ponemon Institute survey, consumers 
ranked the Postal Service as the No. 1 company 
in the package and delivery category. In addition, 
Forbes.com ranked the Postal Service among the 
top 30 U.S. businesses. 

Employer of choice 
For the fourth straight year, the Postal Service 
was named one of the best places to work 
in information technology by Computerworld 
magazine. Our commitment to a diverse work-
force was reflected in being named one of the 
best companies for Hispanics, an honor from 
Hispanic Business magazine. And the nation’s 
first and only career-guidance and recruitment 
magazine for people with disabilities, Careers & 
the disABLED, named the Postal Service a public-
sector employer of the year. We’re committed 
to fostering a business culture that provides an 
inclusive work environment for all employees. 

Providing solutions 
We introduced new shape-based pricing that 
reflects the costs of handling letters, large 
envelopes, and packages. Consumers can save 
money on future mailings by buying Forever 
Stamps, the value of which always will be the 
1-ounce letter rate. We streamlined international 
products, and consumers now can use the same 
Priority Mail and Express Mail packaging for ship-
ping in the United States and to other countries. 

Embracing technology 
We expanded use of the Intelligent Mail barcode, 
providing a wealth of information to mailers, 
including the ability to track mail end-to-end. 
Business mailers in increasing numbers turned to 
this next-generation technology. One out of every 
100 pieces of mail sorted daily now contains this 
barcode. We also made it easier for our business 
customers to do business with us through elec-
tronic documentation, such as status of mailings 
and account balances. 

Working safe 
We are committed to providing a safe work-
place for our employees. Through the Voluntary 
Protection Program, we bring management, 
employees and union representatives together to 
work to reduce injuries and illnesses. More than 
130 postal worksites earned certification in this 
Occupational Health and Safety Administration 
program, more than any other employer, 
public or private. Since the effort began, postal 
worksites entering the program reduced injury 
and illness rates by half. 

Protecting the environment 
We consider safeguarding the environment a 
corporate responsibility. More than a half billion 
Priority Mail and Express Mail envelopes and 
boxes provided to our customers each year now 
meet higher environmental standards. We earned 
Cradle to Cradle Certification based on the quality 
of raw materials used to produce this packaging. 
They’re fully recyclable and more than 15,000 
metric tons of carbon emissions will be prevented 
annually. 

Helping others 
Our ongoing commitment to the communities 
we serve is reflected in programs like ADVO’s 
“Have You Seen Me?” flyers that feature missing 
children’s pictures and profiles. The program 
has resulted in the safe return of 145 children. 
Our semipostal stamps address important social 
concerns. Since 1998, the Postal Service has 
raised more than $57 million for breast cancer 
research through the sale of a semipostal stamp. 
Another semipostal stamp raised nearly $3.2 
million for programs to prevent family violence. 
And, more than 30,000 Postal Service employees 
have joined the National Marrow Donor Program 
Registry, surpassing all organizations — public or 
private sector. 
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“Mail is good for 

business, good for the 

economy and, overall, 

it’s good for America.” 

John Potter 
Postmaster General, CEO 

Adding new value to mail 

We’re bullish on mail. 

It touches all Americans. From small towns 
on the Great Plains to the great cities of both 
coasts, from letters from home to U.S. soldiers 
overseas to Alaskan villagers reached only by 
seaplane, mail connects our nation. 

It’s personal and anticipated. It’s a birthday card 
lovingly sent to a grandmother or a thank-you 
note from a charity. It’s a catalog from a favorite 
merchant announcing a sale on the trendiest 
designer shoes or a flyer announcing the 
arrival of the hottest electronic game at a local 
business. 

It’s trusted. For more than two centuries, 
our mail carriers have been welcomed at the 
front door of homes and businesses in every 
community. Americans trust us to protect their 
privacy. 

It delivers results. New and innovative uses, such 
as voting by mail or environmentally friendly 
packaging, help companies build business and 
contribute to a multibillion-dollar mailing industry 
that employs millions of people. Mail has an 
essential role in the commerce of our nation. 

We’re bullish on the future. 

Change always has been part of our history. 
For 230 years, we have advanced on a parallel 
course with the development of our nation. 
With the enactment of the new postal law, we 
have started down the path to profitability and 
performance that will define the Postal Service of 
the future. 

We always adapt our products and services to 
meet the evolving needs and changing lifestyles 
of Americans. We recognize the importance of 
giving people options that fit their busy, multitask-
ing lives. We make it quick, easy and convenient 
for consumers to do business with us when 
and where they want, online or at a Post Office, 
around the clock. The Internet helps us connect 
with our customers, large and small. 

Today’s mail is built on technology. Automation 
equipment moves mail and packages faster 

than ever toward their destinations. High-tech 
scanners can track mail from trucks to processing 
plants to the front doors of homes and busi-
nesses everywhere. Through the use of advanced 
barcode technology, mail is smarter than ever. 

We understand that the key to our growth is 
increasing the value of mail and continuing to 
develop products and services that our customers 
need and want. We’re up to the challenge. Our 
Strategic Transformation Plan has us on a path 
to grow the mail and keep delivering service and 
trust for future generations. 

Working together, we can keep the mailing 
industry strong and responsive to the needs of 
people who rely on mail to communicate and 
conduct business every day. Be assured — every 
step we take will protect the fundamental right 
of every American to send and receive mail 
affordably. And everything we do will ensure that 
we can deliver for future generations. 

We’re bullish on our mission. 
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Delivering for future generations 

We take seriously our responsibility of leaving a 
“green” footprint across the American landscape. 

With 700,000 employees and one of the largest 
transportation and facilities networks in the world, 
we touch every community. We are committed to 
making a positive impact on the environment. We 
not only can lead by example, we can empower 
the American people to go green too. 

We are managing programs and resources with 
the long-term in mind. We can meet our present 
needs and strengthen our business without 
compromising the future. 

We already have the nation’s largest fleet of 
alternative fuel-capable vehicles, including 
biodiesel, electric, and hydrogen power. We are 
promoting conservation measures in facilities 
nationwide, including long-life light bulbs, 
motion sensors on light switches and computer-
controlled thermostats. 

We are working with customers to improve 
address quality and reduce mail that’s unde-
liverable. We encourage use of recycled and 
recyclable materials. Our packaging meets high 
environmental standards and is recyclable, as are 
many retail and philatelic products. We recycle 
about 1 million tons of wastepaper and other 
materials — including cell phones and computers 
— each year, and we buy products with recycled 
content. 

By improving efficiency, eliminating waste and 
redundancy, and making greater use of technol-
ogy, we can reduce our energy consumption 
— and improve our bottom line. 

How can our customers go green with us? Save 
the trip. Our online options bring the Post Office 
to any home or business, and we’re working 
with other delivery companies to move mail and 
packages on shared transportation, much like a 
carpool for commuters, saving on energy costs 
and consumption. When it comes to the last mile 
to the front door, we can take care of delivery and 
pickup, helping to create healthier neighborhoods. 

Our footprint leads the way to sustainable growth. 

We redesigned a half a billion Priority Mail and 

Express Mail boxes that are 100% recyclable that 

received Cradle to Cradle Certification. 
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Board of Governors 

As the governing body of the Postal Service, the 11-member Board of 
Governors has responsibilities comparable to a board of directors of a 
publicly held corporation. The Board is composed of nine Governors 
appointed by the President of the United States with the advice and consent 
of the Senate. No more than five Governors can be members of the same 
political party. The other two members of the Board are the Postmaster 
General and the Deputy Postmaster General. The Governors appoint the 
Postmaster General, who serves at their pleasure without a specific term of 
office. The Governors, together with the Postmaster General, appoint the 
Deputy Postmaster General. 

James C. Miller III, Chairman Appointed 
April 2003. Term expires December 2010. 
Chairman emeritus, The CapAnalysis Group. 
Senior Fellow, Hoover Institution at Stanford 
University. Former Director, U.S. Office of 
Management and Budget. Former Chairman, 
U.S. Federal Trade Commission. 

Carolyn Lewis Gallagher Appointed 
November 2004. Term expires December 
2009. Chairman of the Compensation and 
Management Resources Committee and is a 
member of the Audit and Finance Committee. 
Former President and Chief Executive Officer 
of Texwood Furniture, Inc. A Trustee and the 
immediate past chair of the Board of St. 
Edward’s University; and a Trustee of the Texas 
Employees Retirement System. 

Louis J. Giuliano Appointed November 2004. 
Term expires December 2014. Chairman, 
Capital Projects Committee. Member, Audit 
and Finance Committee and the Compensation 
and Management Resources Committee. 
Former Chairman of the Board of Directors of 
ITT Industries and President and Chief 
Executive Officer. Director of The 
ServiceMaster Company; and Senior Advisor at 
the Carlyle Group. 

Alan C. Kessler, Vice Chairman Appointed 
November 2000. Term expires December 
2008. Chairman of the Governance and 
Strategic Planning Committee. Attorney and 
entrepreneur. Partner, Wolf, Block, Schorr and 
Solis-Cohen, LLP. Member, Board of Directors, 
Philadelphia Industrial Development 
Corporation. Chairman, Pennsylvania Supreme 
Court Continuing Legal Education Board. 

Thurgood Marshall, Jr. Appointed December 
2006. Term expires December 2011. Member, 
Audit and Finance Committee and Capital 
Projects Committee. Partner at Bingham 
McCutchen and principal with Bingham 
Consulting Group. Served President Clinton as 
Assistant to the President and Cabinet 
Secretary. Former Director of Legislative Affairs 
and Deputy Counsel for Vice President Gore. 

Mickey D. Barnett Appointed August 2006. 
Term expires December 2013. He serves as a 
member of the Capital Projects Committee and 
the Governance and Strategic Planning 
Committee. Attorney in Albuquerque, New 
Mexico. Former member, New Mexico State 
Senate. Former member, Appellate Nominating 
Commission for the New Mexico Supreme 
Court of Appeals. Former Legislative Assistant 
to Senator Pete Domenici of New Mexico. 

James H. Bilbray Appointed August 2006. 
Term expires December 2015. Member of the 
Capital Projects Committee and the Governance 
and Strategic Planning Committee. Attorney in 
Las Vegas, Nevada. Former member of the U.S. 
House of Representatives from Nevada. Former 
member, Nevada State Senate. Former Deputy 
District Attorney in Clark County, Nevada. 

Katherine C. Tobin Appointed August 2006. 
Term Expires December 2012. She serves as 
Chairman of the Audit and Finance Committee 
and is a member of the Compensation and 
Management Resources Committee. Chairman, 
Board of Trustees, Preston High School, Bronx, 
New York. Member, Advisory Board, 
Mentor-Net, mentoring network for women in 
engineering and science. Former head of 
research teams at Hewlett-Packard Company 
and Catalyst, a nonprofit organization for 
women in business. 

Ellen C. Williams Appointed August 2006. 
Term expires December 2007. Nominated for a 
full term that expires December 2014. Member 
of the Compensation and Management 
Resources Committee and the Governance and 
Strategic Planning Committee. Principal, 
government affairs and lobbying firm. Former 
Vice Chairman, Kentucky Public Services 
Commission. Former Commissioner, Governor’s 
Office for Local Development. Former Chairman, 
Kentucky Republican Party. Staff assistant to 
former U.S. Representative Larry Hopkins. 
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John E. Potter Appointed 72nd Postmaster General and Chief Executive Patrick R. Donahoe Appointed 19th Deputy Postmaster General in April 
Officer of the United States Postal Service in June 2001. Potter has served as 2005, Donahoe is Chief Operating Officer and has served as Senior Vice 
Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President; Senior Vice President, President, Operations; Senior Vice President Human Resources; and Vice 
Operations; Senior Vice President, Labor Relations; and Manager, Capital President, Allegheny Area Operations. 
Metro Operations. 

The Executive Committee of the United States 
Postal Service consists of the Postmaster 
General, the Deputy Postmaster General, the 
Chief Operating Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Executive Vice Presidents of Human 

Patrick R. Donahoe 
Deputy Postmaster General 
and Chief Operating Officer 

H. Glen Walker 
Chief Financial Officer and Executive 
Vice President 

The Executive Committee 

Resources and Marketing, the Senior Vice Postmaster General. It meets frequently and as 
President and General Counsel, and the Senior necessary to consider topics of importance to 
Vice President Strategy and Transition. The the Postal Service. 
Executive Committee is a decision-making body 
and its members serve as senior advisors to the 

Anthony J. Vegliante 
Chief Human Resources Officer 
and Executive Vice President 

Senior Vice President, Strategy 
and Transition 

John E. Potter 
Postmaster General and Chief 
Executive Officer 

Anita J. Bizzotto 
Chief Marketing Officer and 
Executive Vice President 

Linda A. KingsleyMary Anne Gibbons 
Senior Vice President and 
General Counsel 
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 A Message from the Audit and Finance Committee 

T he Audit and Finance Committee assists 
the full Board of Governors in fulfilling its 
fiduciary responsibilities. The Chairman 

of the Board selects the members of the Audit 
and Finance Committee for each calendar year. 
This year the committee, whose members are 
Governor Louis J. Giuliano, Governor Carolyn 
Lewis Gallagher, Governor Thurgood Marshall, 
Jr, and I, met seven times in conjunction with 
the regularly scheduled monthly Board meetings. 

The certified public accounting firm responsible 
for the independent audit of the Postal Service 
financial statements, Ernst & Young, LLP, reports 
to the Board through the Audit and Finance 
Committee. The Postal Service Inspector 
General also reports to the Governors and is 
represented at all Committee meetings. 

The Audit and Finance Committee’s primary 
responsibility is oversight of the integrity of 
the Postal Service financial statements. The 
Committee monitors the Postal Service financial 
reporting process, the soundness of internal 
control procedures, cash management, and 
overall financial performance of the Postal 
Service to ensure the integrity of its financial 
statements. 

The passage of the Postal Enhancement 
and Accountability Act of 2006 had, and will 
continue to have, a significant impact on the 
work of the Committee. Three new requirements 
in particular will impact its work: the rulemaking 
process governing the regulatory accounting for 
the newly-created competitive and market-dom-
inant product categories; the mandate for fully 
SEC-compliant financial reporting, beginning in 
2008; and compliance with section 404 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, beginning in 2010. 

Each of these items is significant in its own 
right. Beginning shortly after the passage of 
the Act, the Committee began monitoring 
closely management’s plans and efforts toward 
compliance with Section 404 of Sarbanes-Oxley. 
Likewise, we monitored developments in the 
rulemaking process governing the accounting 
for competitive and market-dominant products. 
These efforts will be ongoing until both 
processes are successfully implemented. 

The Postal Service will begin filing with the 
Postal Regulatory Commission financial reports 
that are fully compliant with SEC requirements 
beginning in 2008, and the Committee will 
supervise those processes as well. Although the 
Postal Service has been issuing financial reports 
in formats similar to SEC forms 10-K and 10-Q 
for a number of years, this was done on a strictly 
voluntary basis, in the spirit of full disclosure and 
transparency. 

During the year, the Committee also reviewed 
its charter, the attribution of cost and estimation 
of revenues by class of mail, the preparation of 
the Postal Service’s Integrated Financial Plan 
for 2008, and the Office of Inspector General’s 
Audit Plan for 2008. 

In directing the conduct of the 2007 financial 
statement audit, the Committee met with Ernst 
& Young LLP and reviewed their work plan for 
the financial statement audit. We concurred with 
the scope and materiality levels established. We 
met jointly and independently with Ernst & Young 
LLP, the Inspector General, management and 
the Postal Service General Counsel to discuss 
progress on the audit. We determined that the 
work of the Office of Inspector General and our 
external auditor was independent and objective. 

Accordingly, the Committee recommended, and 
the Board approved, the financial statements  
for 2007. 

Katherine C. Tobin 
Chairman, Audit and Finance Committee 
November 15, 2007 
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A Message from the Chief Financial Offcer and Executive 
Vice President 

F iscal Year 2007 marked the beginning 
of a transition to an historic new era for 
the Postal Service with the enactment of 

the Postal Accountability and Enhancement Act 
on December 20, 2006. We begin this journey 
on a solid foundation, as postal employees 
capped the year by delivering record levels of 
mail service, increased productivity, and solid 
financial performance. 

Under the new law, we will see significant 
changes in our business model. In particular, 
the new law directs the Postal Service in the 
coming year to separate its mail services into 
two business lines. The first of these, known 
as “Mailing” services, includes First-Class Mail 
and Standard Mail and accounts for roughly 
90 percent of our revenues. These services 
will be subject to a Consumer Price Index (CPI) 
price cap. The second business line, known 
as “Shipping” services, includes Express Mail 
and Priority Mail and represents the balance of 
postal revenue. Shipping services can be priced 
according to the market. 

We are now subject to regulation through a 
new Postal Regulatory Commission — and by 
the year 2010, to Section 404 of the Sarbanes 
Oxley Act (SOX). Although SOX and other 
administrative requirements of the new law are 
expected to pose significant implementation 
challenges, we view these changes as an 
opportunity to increase trust in the Postal 
Service — which drives our brand equity — and 
to develop the business by identifying ways to 
improve processes, reduce costs, and advance 
our business practices. 

The new law also directs us to fund our retiree 
health benefits through a 10-year schedule of 
payments that range from $5.4 to $5.8 billion 
annually. The first of these payments was made 
this year. This is a farsighted and responsible 
action that places the Postal Service in the van-
guard of both the public and private sectors in 
providing future security for its employees, and 
augurs well for our long-term financial stability 
upon successful completion of the payments. In 
the near term, however, these payments will be 
a considerable financial challenge. 

Absent the financial effects of the new law, we 
would have recorded net income of more than 
$1.6 billion for 2007, which would have marked 
our fifth consecutive year of positive net income 
and fourth straight year of positive retained 
earnings. However, due to the required funding 
of retiree health benefits for 2007 — and 
related financial adjustments under the law, 
as explained elsewhere in this report — we 
reported a $5.1 billion loss for the year. 

Our solid income before the new law’s impact 
attests to the sound approach of our Strategic 
Transformation Plan, 2006–2010, and the 
disciplined execution by postal management 
and employees. We increased our productivity 
for an unprecedented eighth consecutive year, 
and delivered our best-ever First-Class Mail 
service, with 96 percent of local First-Class Mail 
delivered overnight. Our people showed that 
good service does not cost more; it costs less. 
This focus on execution was one of our most 
important achievements in 2007. 

The Postal Service faces significant uncertainty 
over the next few years as we transition to the 
new business model envisioned by the new law. 
These uncertainties are in addition to those 
normally posed by the economy; the challenges 
of running a large, complex enterprise; and 
abundant competition in every line of our 
business. 

Nevertheless, the Postal Service’s recent and 
long-term success inspires optimism. When 
the Postal Reorganization Act (PRA) was 
implemented in 1971, the Postal Service was 
a money-losing, heavily subsidized government 
department in desperate need of modernization, 
lacking in customer focus and with serious 
service and efficiency problems. During the 
nearly-36 years of the PRA, the Postal Service 
reinvented itself and made tremendous progress 
on all fronts. Compared to 1971, today’s Postal 
Service employs only 7.5 percent more people 
to deliver 244 percent more mail to more than 
twice as many addresses, with no tax subsidies 
supporting its operation. During that time, the 
Postal Service earned revenue of $1.464 trillion 
and achieved its break-even mandate within 
about one-tenth of one percent — quite an 
accomplishment. 

I thank all our employees, customers, and 
other stakeholders who have contributed to the 
success of the Postal Service in 2007. Together, 
we are building a firm foundation for the future. 
It is now our privilege to continue that journey 
under a modern mandate. A new Postal Service 
era has begun. 

H. Glen Walker 
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice 
President 
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Financial Section Part I 

Item 1 – Business 

Overview 
The United States Postal Service (we) commenced operations on July 1, 
1971, as an “independent establishment of the executive branch of the 
Government of the United States.” We are governed by an eleven-member 
Board of Governors. The Board is composed of nine Governors appointed 
by the President of the United States with the advice and consent of the 
Senate, the Postmaster General and the Deputy Postmaster General. Under 
the Postal Reorganization Act, and its successor, the Postal Accountability 
and Enhancement Act, Public Law 109-435 ( P.L.109-435), we have a 
legal mandate to offer a “fundamental service” to the American people, “at 
fair and reasonable rates.” We fulfill this legal mandate to provide universal 
service at a fair price by offering a variety of classes of mail services 
without undue discrimination among our many customers. This means that 
within each class of mail our price does not unreasonably vary by customer 
for the levels of service we provide. 

We serve individual and commercial customers throughout the nation. 
We compete for business in the communications, distribution, delivery, 
advertising, and retail markets. 

Our mailing services are sold through our almost 37,000 Post Offices, 
stations, branches, contract postal units, our website www.usps.com, and a 
large network of consignees. We deliver mail to about 148 million city, rural, 
Post Office box, and highway delivery points. We conduct our operations 
primarily in the domestic market, with international operations representing 
less than 3% of our total revenue. 

All references to years, unless otherwise stated, refer to our fiscal year 
beginning October 1 and ending September 30. All references to quarters, 
unless otherwise stated, refer to fiscal quarters within 2007. 

We are not a reporting company under the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, and we are not subject to regulation by the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (SEC). However, effective for reporting periods 
ending after September 30, 2007, we are required under P.L.109-435 to 
file with the Postal Regulatory Commission (PRC) certain financial reports 
containing information prescribed by the SEC under section 13 of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These reports are further described on 
the following page. 

Additional disclosures on our organization and finances, including our 
Cost and Revenue Analysis reports; Revenue, Pieces, and Weight reports; 
Strategic Transformation Plan 2006–2010; and the Comprehensive 
Statement on Postal Operations may be found on our website at www.usps. 
com. Information on our website is not incorporated by reference in this 
document. 

Postal Accountability and Enhancement Act, 
Public Law 109-435 (P.L.109-435) 
This new postal law was signed by President Bush on December 20, 2006. 
It revises a number of provisions of the Postal Service’s governing statute, 
codified in Title 39, United States Code. 

The new law, once fully implemented, will divide our services into two 
broad categories: market-dominant and competitive. Market-dominant 
services include, but are not limited to, First-Class Mail, Standard Mail, 

and Periodicals. Future rate increases for these services will be subject 
to a price cap based on the Consumer Price Index - All Urban Consumers 
(CPI-U). Competitive services, such as Priority Mail, Express Mail, Bulk 
Parcel Post, and Bulk International Mail will have greater pricing flexibility. 

For our retail customers, the new law anticipates that universal service 
can be preserved at affordable rates. For commercial mailers, the law is 
intended to provide rate predictability. For employees, ratepayers, and 
taxpayers, the new law is designed to provide assurance that the employer 
portion of the Postal Service’s health and retirement benefits funding 
obligations becomes fully funded. 

P.L.109-435 also directs the U.S. Treasury to resume financial responsibility 
for the portion of the Civil Service Retirement System (CSRS) pensions of 
postal employees attributable to military service. This takes the financial 
burden added by P.L.108-18, estimated in 2003 at approximately $27 
billion by the Office of Personnel Management (OPM), off of the Postal 
Service. Our CSRS obligations are now estimated by OPM to be fully 
funded as of September 30, 2006, pending future actuarial revaluations. 
P.L.109-435 also abolished a federally-mandated escrow requirement 
and directed that the money previously held in escrow be placed into a 
new Postal Service Retiree Health Benefits Fund (PSRHBF). During the 
next ten years we are required to make payments into the PSRHBF that 
average $5.6 billion per year. By 2017, we expect our retiree health benefits 
obligations will be substantially funded. 

P.L.109-435 also reconstitutes the former Postal Rate Commission into 
a regulatory body, renamed the Postal Regulatory Commission (PRC). 
The PRC released the final regulations pertaining to the new price-setting 
process on October 29, 2007. The regulations consist of three parts: (1) 
regulations related to rate adjustments for market dominant products, 
including the formula for the calculation of the price cap; (2) regulations re-
lated to competitive products; and (3) establishment of a Mail Classification 
Schedule, which categorizes our products as either market dominant or 
competitive. The PRC will need to issue additional regulations pertaining to 
several areas, including the complaint process, reporting requirements, and 
commercially sensitive materials. 

The Mail Classification Schedule divides mail into market-dominant (herein 
after referred to as “mailing services”) or competitive categories (herein 
after referred to as “shipping services”), establishes which types of mail 
constitute separate products, and presents a brief description of each prod-
uct. The new regulations allow us to make certain classification changes 
much more easily than under the previous system, which enhances overall 
ratemaking flexibility. 

The regulations for mailing services, currently constituting approximately 
90% of all postal revenue, allow rate changes every year with limited prior 
review, as long as the average increase for each class of mail is no greater 
than the rate of inflation as measured by CPI-U. The regulations permit rate 
increases above the price cap in the event of extraordinary or exceptional 
circumstances. 

The regulations for shipping services place no upper limit on rate changes, 
and the Governors of the Postal Service can adjust rates as necessary with 
the requirements that each competitive product must cover its attributable 
costs and no competitive product may be cross-subsidized by mailing 
services. In addition, shipping services are required to cover 5.5% of the 
Postal Service’s total institutional cost burden. 
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Financial Section Part I 

We are allowed by P.L.109-435 to file one last rate case under the current 
rules, to be filed not later than December 19, 2007. 

On November 15, 2007, our Governors announced that future prices will be 
adjusted using regulations issued by the PRC for any future rate changes. 

The PRC now has its own Office of Inspector General (OIG). The Postal 
Service will continue to be required to provide the funding for our OIG, the 
PRC, and the PRC’s OIG. 

Additionally, P.L.109-435 requires us, beginning in 2008, to file with the 
PRC a number of financial reports not previously required. These include 
quarterly reports containing information required by the SEC to be filed on 
Form 10-Q within 40 days after the end of each fiscal quarter, an annual 
report containing information required by the SEC on Form 10-K within 
60 days after the end of each fiscal year, and current reports containing 
information required by the SEC on Form 8-K within the prescribed time 
frame. Further, P.L.109-435 requires the Postal Service to comply with the 
rules prescribed by the SEC implementing Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, which pertain to reporting on the effectiveness of our 
financial internal controls. The requirement to comply with the requirements 
of Section 404 is effective beginning with the 2010 annual report. 

Since the law’s enactment, we have been working to ensure that we 
are ready to meet its requirements. Our goal is to work with the mailing 
community, the PRC, and our unions and management associations to 
make the transition as smooth as possible for all stakeholders. To achieve 
this goal we have: 

■ sought additional input through a Federal Register notice. 

■ worked with mailers on developing modern service standards and 
performance measurement systems. 

■ received input on service standards from a number of other 
stakeholders. 

■ met with the PRC and provided extensive comments to help them 
develop the new rules for the mailing services and shipping services 
rate-setting process to ensure a smooth transition for everyone involved. 

■ continued to work internally to prepare our systems to be ready to meet 
the new reporting requirements both for price-setting and regulatory 
reporting. 

Strategy 
The Strategic Transformation Plan provides focus and direction for all 
Postal Service business and operating activities. It defines our vision and 
establishes strategies for revenue, service, efficiency, customer-focused 
culture, and sustainability. 

The strategic transformation process is dynamic and adaptable. The 
Plan is substantially revised every three years, and is updated annually to 
accommodate ongoing changes in our business environment. This annual 
planning process incorporates an ongoing assessment of performance, 
refinement of strategic goals, and prioritization of programs and budgets to 
optimize results. Strategic targets and specific functional objectives are then 
deployed throughout the Postal Service. 

Clearly, the most significant event to occur this year was the enactment 
of the Postal Accountability and Enhancement Act. Although the law did 
not change our fundamental mission, it did change many aspects of how 
we will manage our business. Many of these changes will be reflected in 
a revision to the Strategic Transformation Plan, which will be published in 
December 2007. 

Segments 
We operate in one segment throughout the United States, its possessions, 
territories and internationally. 

Services 
The Postal Service is the centerpiece of the U.S. mailing industry. We 
provide a wide variety of services to meet almost any mailing need. Some of 
our major services are 

FIRsT-CLAss MAIL — Includes postcards, letters, or any other 
advertisement or merchandise up to 13 ounces. This service (or Express 
Mail or Priority Mail) is required for personal correspondence, handwritten 
or typewritten letters and bills or statements of account. 

PRIoRITy MAIL — This 1–3 day nonguaranteed delivery service is 
typically used to send documents, gifts and merchandise. 

ExPREss MAIL — This overnight money-back guaranteed service 
includes tracking, proof of delivery, and insurance up to $100. Delivery 
is offered to most destinations and is available 365 days a year with no 
extra charge for weekend and holiday delivery. 

PERIoDICALs — Offered for newspaper, magazine, and newsletter 
distribution and requires prior authorization by the Postal Service. 

sTAnDARD MAIL — Is offered for any item, including advertisements 
and merchandise weighing less than 16 ounces, that is not required to 
be sent using First-Class Mail. Standard Mail is typically used for bulk 
advertising to multiple delivery addresses. Content restrictions apply for 
authorized nonproft mailers. 

PACKAGE sERVICEs — Are offered for any merchandise or printed 
matter weighing up to 70 pounds. These services include Parcel Post, 
Bound Printed Matter, Library Mail, and Media Mail. 

sPECIAL sERVICEs — Offer a variety of enhancements that add value 
to mail services by providing added security, proof of delivery, or loss 
recovery. These services include: Certifed Mail, Registered Mail, Delivery 
Confrmation, Signature Confrmation, and insurance up to $1,000. 

MonEy oRDERs — Are offered as a safe, convenient, and economical 
alternative to sending cash through the mail. They can be purchased 
at any Post Offce or from any rural route carrier. Postal money orders 
are available for any amount up to $1,000 and are restricted to a daily 
purchase limit of $10,000 per customer. Money orders can be cashed at 
any Post Offce or can be deposited or negotiated at fnancial institutions. 
Money orders are replaced if damaged, lost, or stolen. 

Details of our revenue by mail categories are found in the Operating 
Statistics Section on page 54 of this report. 
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Rate and Classifcation Activity 
Under the Postal Reorganization Act of 1970, the Postal Rate Commission, 
an “independent establishment of the executive branch of the Government 
of the United States,” made recommendations on rate and classification 
changes proposed by the Postal Service. Under P.L.109-435, the PRC 
has an expanded and significantly different role in fostering a viable and 
efficient postal system. Since the enactment of the law, we, the PRC, and 
stakeholders worked to develop rules and regulations to implement the new 
law with regards to rate and classification activity. 

On May 3, 2006, we filed a request with the PRC to increase prices under 
the rules in place at that time. The request was not an across-the-board 
increase, but was intended to align our prices with our costs, in addition 
to generating additional revenue. The filing included many innovative 
classification proposals that have since been accepted and implemented. 

The most innovative of these classification proposals was for more exten-
sive shape-based pricing. In addition to the weight of a mailpiece, which 
was the primary criterion under the former pricing structure, under the new 
classification, the dimensions of the mailpiece are a determinant of pricing. 
For example, under the new shape-based pricing model, a mailpiece that 
weighs one ounce mailed in a large envelope would have a price of 80 
cents; however, if the contents were folded and mailed in a letter size 
envelope the price would be 41 cents. Shape-based pricing recognizes that 
each shape of mailpiece has substantially different handling costs. This 
pricing approach encourages efficiency in that customers can reduce their 
postage by using a shape format that is less costly for us to handle. 

The PRC issued its recommendation for new rates on February 26, 2007. 
The PRC’s recommendation modified some of the proposed pricing 
structure, reduced the proposed First-Class Mail 1-ounce rate of 42 cents 
to 41 cents, and reduced the proposed additional-ounce rate from 20 
cents to 17 cents. To compensate for the revenue reductions from these 
changes, the PRC’s recommended decision increased the rates for flats 
and Periodicals well above our original request. On March 19, 2007, the 
Governors approved: 

■ the PRC recommended 41 cent 1-ounce First-Class Mail rate and the 
additional-ounce rate of 17 cents. 

■ issuance of the Forever Stamp. 

■ shape-based pricing. 

Consumers are now able to purchase the new Forever Stamp for the 
41-cent 1-ounce First-Class Mail single-piece rate and will be able to use 
it forever to mail a 1-ounce First-Class letter, even if First-Class Mail rates 
increase in the future. 

The majority of the price changes took effect May 14, 2007. 

The Governors delayed implementation of new prices for Periodicals until 
July 15, 2007 and requested reconsideration by the PRC of the Standard 
Mail flat prices. On June 19, 2007, the Governors decided not to implement 
a temporary change to Standard Mail Regular and Nonprofit flat prices 
recommended by the PRC, and instead decided that the current Standard 
Mail flat prices will remain in effect. 

In addition to the general rate changes discussed already, we proposed 
several mail classification changes and negotiated service agreements 
(NSAs) in 2007. The experimental classification rate for repositionable 
notes was extended for an additional year on July 6, 2007. A request for a 
permanent classification change for Premium Forwarding Service was filed 
with the Commission on July 31, 2007. 

Information on the PRC and the recommended decisions can be found on 
the PRC website at http://www.prc.gov. 

Intellectual Property 
We own intellectual property that includes trademarks, service marks, 
patents, copyrights, trade secrets, and other proprietary information. We 
routinely generate intellectual property in the course of developing and 
improving our systems, services, and operations. 

Seasonal Operations 
Our operations are seasonal. Mail volume and revenue tend to be greatest 
in our first fiscal quarter, which includes the fall holiday mailing season, and 
lowest during the summer, our fourth quarter. 

Customers 
We have a very diverse customer base and we are not dependent upon a 
single customer or small group of customers. No single customer repre-
sents more than two percent of our revenue. 

Government Contracts 
No material portion of our business is subject to renegotiation of profits 
or termination of contracts or subcontracts at the election of the U.S. 
government. 

Research and Development 
We operate a research and development facility in Virginia for design, 
development, and testing of postal equipment and operating systems. We 
also contract with independent suppliers to conduct research activities that 
benefit us. While research and development activities are important to our 
business, these expenditures are not material. 

Environmental Matters 
We are not aware of any federal, state, or local environmental laws or 
regulations that will materially affect our financial results or competitive 
position or result in material capital expenditures. However, we cannot 
predict the effect of possible future environmental legislation or regulations 
on our operations. 

Employees 
At September 30, 2007, we had 684,762 career employees, substantially 
all of whom reside in the United States. We also had 101,167 noncareer 
employees. 

Our labor force is primarily represented by the American Postal Workers 
Union (APWU), National Association of Letter Carriers (NALC), National 
Postal Mail Handlers Union (NPMHU) and National Rural Letter Carriers 
Association (NRLCA). More than 85% of our career employees are covered 
by collective bargaining agreements. By law, we consult with management 
organizations representing most of the employees not covered by collective 
bargaining agreements. These consultations provide an opportunity to 
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participate directly in the planning, development, and implementation of 
programs and policies affecting nonbargaining employees in the field. 
Our management organizations include the National Association of Postal 
Supervisors, the National League of Postmasters, and the National 
Association of Postmasters of the United States. We participate in federal 
employee benefit programs as required by statute, for retirement, health 
and workers’ compensation benefits. 

Available Information 
Financial and other information is available on www.usps.com ; click on 
“About USPS and News.” Information on our website is not incorporated by 
reference in this document. 

We make available on our website, free of charge, copies of our annual 
report, quarterly reports and current reports, as soon as reasonably 
practicable after they are filed with or provided to the PRC. Requests for 
copies may also be sent to: 

United States Postal Service 
Public Affairs and Communications 
475 L’Enfant Plaza, SW 
Washington, DC 20260-3100. 

Item 1A – Risk Factors 
Our operations and financial results are subject to various risks and 
uncertainties, including those described below, that could adversely affect 
our business, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. 
You should also read the rest of this report, including sections entitled 
“Business” and “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial 
condition and results of operations,”  for a more complete understanding of 
the risks and uncertainties we confront. 

Postal Service Brand 
We serve almost every American household and business nearly every day. 
For the third year in a row, the Ponemon Institute named the Postal Service 
the most trusted government agency and among the ten most trusted of 
all organizations. The Postal Service brand represents quality and reliable 
service to our customers and therefore is a valuable asset. We use our 
brand extensively in our sales and marketing initiatives, and we take care 
to defend and protect it. Any event that calls into question this quality and 
reliability could diminish the value of our brand and potentially adversely 
affect our business and reputation. 

Competition 
The Internet continues to dramatically change the communications market. 
Within the next decade further innovations in mobile commerce, broadband, 
interactive TV, data mining software, and new printing technologies will 
affect the way businesses and consumers interact. 

Of greatest impact on us are electronic alternatives to correspondence 
and transactions, particularly for First-Class Mail items such as business 
correspondence, bills, statements, and customer payments. First-Class Mail 
volume has already been affected by the Internet, automatic deductions, 
direct deposit, telephone, fax machines, and other electronic communica-
tions. The Internet and electronic commerce also have some positive 

impact on our business by stimulating new uses of postal services, such as 
package delivery and targeted ad mail. 

In addition, major corporations now dominate parcel and express markets. 
Further, the competitive landscape for postal services is becoming more 
global. Foreign postal operators are moving outside their geographic 
borders and expanding beyond their traditional postal services into offering 
express delivery, logistics, financial, and electronic services. More than a 
dozen posts, mainly European, have set up operations in the United States 
at more than 3,500 locations nationwide. Retail locations, sales offices and 
full-scale offices of exchange are offering mailing services, parcel, logistics 
and financial services to the American market. Despite our competitive 
global services, we have a disadvantage because our international air 
transportation rates are set by the U.S. government and are not subject 
to more favorable market-driven rates available to foreign posts. This has 
contributed to an increase in the outbound market share of our foreign 
competitors. 

Oversight and Regulation 
The PRC recently issued regulations pertaining to the new price-setting 
process, as required by P.L.109-435. In addition, the PRC, in consultation 
with the U.S. Department of the Treasury and the Postal Service, is required 
to issue, by December 2008 regulations dictating accounting principles and 
practices for the Competitive Products Fund required by  P.L.109-435. In 
the event the PRC’s application of these or other regulations delays us from 
instituting price or classification changes, or if we incur excessive costs in 
meeting PRC requirements, our results of operations could be adversely 
affected. 

In addition to the PRC, we are subject to a variety of other forms of 
oversight and scrutiny by Congress, mailer organizations, the media, and 
the general public. This is an outgrowth of our unique status as a provider 
of a fundamental service to the American people. We attempt to balance 
the interests of all these groups with the need for operational efficiency. Our 
efforts to be responsive to our various stakeholders sometimes adversely 
impact the speed with which we are able to respond to changes in mail 
volumes or other operational needs. Any limitations on our ability to take 
management action could adversely affect our operating and financial 
results. 

Bank Secrecy Act Compliance 
In order to combat money laundering and terrorism, Congress enacted a 
series of laws from 1970 to 2001 that require banks and money services 
businesses to detect, deter, track, and report certain cash transactions 
to the U.S. Department of the Treasury. This legislation, together with 
amendments and promulgated rules and regulations, is known as the 
Bank Secrecy Act (BSA). The law specifically includes the Postal Service, 
because we sell postal money orders and provide international funds 
transfers with our Sure Money product and as such meet the definition of 
a money service business. As mandated by the BSA, we have established 
policies and procedures to ensure that we are in compliance with the 
provisions of the BSA. The impact of the BSA on our operations has not 
been material. 

Do Not Mail Legislation 
In 2007, Do Not Mail legislative bills were introduced in 15 state legislatures 
nationwide. These bills, modeled after the Do Not Call registry, are designed 
to limit or stop advertising mail from being mailed to households. 
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Should a state pass Do Not Mail legislation it would result in lost revenue 
for the Postal Service. While none of the state bills passed during 2007, 
in seven states the 2007 legislation automatically will be carried over 
to the 2008 session. The bills in those seven states do not need to be 
re-introduced in order to be considered. 

Economic Risk 
The demand for all postal services is heavily influenced by changes in the 
economy. A slowdown in the economy would impact nearly every class 
of mail negatively. In recent months a steep slump in housing prices, 
challenging conditions in the financial and credit markets, and a recent 
rise in oil prices have driven down consumer confidence. These conditions 
may have an adverse impact on retail sales, investment, and employment. 
Growth in retail sales, investment spending, and employment are all drivers 
of mail demand. 

Impact of Infation on Revenue and Expense 
P.L.109-435 is intended to benefit both residential and business custom-
ers by seeking to achieve predictable price increases tied to the rate of 
inflation for services defined as mailing services (primarily First-Class Mail, 
Standard Mail, and Periodicals). These services represent about 90% of 
total revenues and about 86% of our attributable costs. 

While the majority of our rates are now linked directly to general inflation, 
our costs are not. In 2007, general inflation as measured by CPI-U was 
2.8% compared with postal resource price inflation of 3.7%. Postal costs 
are heavily concentrated in wages, employee and retiree benefits, and 
transportation. They are significantly impacted by legislatively-imposed 
expenses and by the continuous expansion of our delivery network. Under 
current conditions, we believe that both volume and revenue growth, along 
with increasing productivity improvements, will be required to address the 
challenge presented by the regulatory price cap. 

The labor contracts with three of our four largest unions currently include 
provisions granting a cost of living allowances (COLAs). These recently ne-
gotiated contracts expire in 2010 or 2011. One contract with the NRLCA is 
in interest arbitration. Under current contract provisions, COLAs are linked 
to the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and are granted semiannually. Employee 
compensation represents a significant portion of our annual expenses; 
therefore, an increase in the CPI greater than had been incorporated into 
our financial plans could adversely affect financial results. 

We estimate that an increase in the CPI of 0.5% would cause an annualized 
increase in our COLAs of about $100 million. 

Fuel Price Risk 
Fuel prices are a significant part of our expenses. We are exposed to 
changes in commodity prices primarily for diesel fuel, unleaded gasoline 
and aircraft fuel for transportation of the mail and natural gas for heating 
facilities. A 1.0% change in fuel and natural gas costs would result in a $24 
million increase in expense. We currently do not use derivative commodity 
instruments to manage the risk of changes in energy prices. 

Technology 
We rely extensively on technology to operate our systems for processing 
and delivering mail. Our intranet is the largest maintained by any organiza-
tion in the world. Any significant failure of these systems could cause delays 

in the processing and delivering mail, which could damage our reputation, 
result in loss of business and increase our costs of operation. 

Privacy 
We receive a variety of private information from our customers, such as 
address change data. We have implemented a number of safeguards 
intended to protect the confidentiality of data that we obtain. Any significant 
violation of the privacy of our data could damage our reputation and result 
in loss of business. 

Biohazards 
Although we have implemented extensive emergency preparedness 
measures to keep the mail, postal employees and postal customers safe 
from harm due to biohazards that could be introduced into the mailstream, 
we must continue to be vigilant about possible biohazard threats. If a new 
biohazard were to arise and our measures were not sufficient to contain 
or otherwise mitigate the threat, our services could be disrupted. This 
could adversely affect our revenues, and we could be required to make 
substantial expenditures to address the threat, which could also adversely 
affect our costs of operation and financial condition. 

Security 
We may be required to comply with additional security requirements 
contained in legislation and regulations adopted to address threats to 
national security. For example, on August 3, 2007, the Implementing 
Recommendations of the 9/11 Commission Act of 2007 (P.L.110-53) be-
came effective. This Act requires the Transportation Security Administration 
(TSA) to impose additional screening requirements for cargo transported 
on passenger aircraft. The TSA has not yet made clear whether or how 
it will apply to the transportation of mail. Accordingly, we cannot predict 
the impact of the Act. Depending upon how the Act and other security 
requirements are implemented, we could be required to make significant 
expenditures, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operation and/or financial condition. 

Item 2 – Properties 

Real Estate 
Our facilities range in size from 60 square feet to 34 acres under one roof, 
and support retail, delivery, mail processing, maintenance, administrative, 
and support activities. 

Real Estate Inventory 2007 2006 

(Actual numbers) 

Leased Facilities 25,450 25,567 

Owned Facilities 8,487 8,437 

GSA / Other Government Facilities 381 408 

Total Real Estate Inventory 34,318 34,412 

Annual Rent paid to lessors 
(Dollars in millions) 

$ 973 $ 1,002 
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The majority of our small- and medium-sized facilities support the retail and 
delivery operations located in virtually every community across this country. 
Our retail and delivery operations are supported by 32,695 leased or owned 
facilities. We also provide retail services through 4,026 contract postal units 
and community Post Offices where the facility is owned and maintained by 
the contractor. 

Retail and Delivery Facilities 2007 2006 

(Actual numbers) 

Post Offices 27,276 27,318 

Classified Branches 1,508 1,522 

Classified Stations 3,379 3,457 

Carrier Annexes 532 578 

Contract Postal Units 3,131 3,014 

Community Post Offices 895 937 

Total Retail and Delivery Facilities 36,721 36,826 

Our larger facilities typically support mail processing operations, which 
process millions of pieces of mail on a daily basis, and prepare it for 
transportation across the country. 

Processing Facilities 2007 2006 

(Actual numbers) 

Processing and Distribution Centers 269 269 

Customer Service Facilities 195 195 

Bulk Mail Centers 21 21 

Logistics and Distribution Centers 14 11 

Annexes 66 66 

Surface Transfer Centers 14 17 

Airmail Processing Centers 29 77 

Remote Encoding Centers 10 12 

International Service Centers 5 5 

Total Processing Facilities 623 673 

We also have approximately 1,000 other facilities. These facilities include 
administrative, vehicle maintenance, and miscellaneous support facilities. 

Vehicles 
We have one of the largest vehicle fleets in the United States, including an 
extensive fleet of alternative fuel vehicles. 

Vehicle Inventory 2007 2006 

(Actual numbers) 

Delivery and Collection Vehicles 
(1/2 - 2 1/2 ton) 195,211 190,932 

Mail Transport Vehicles 
(Tractors and Trailers) 6,824 7,484 

Administrative Vehicles 
and Other Vehicles 6,169 6,296 

Service Vehicles 
(Maintenance) 5,539 5,623 

Inspection Service and 
Law Enforcement Vehicles 3,482 3,212 

Mail Transport Vehicles 
(3 - 9 ton) 2,297 2,457 

Total Vehicles 219,522 216,004 

Item 3 – Legal proceedings 
We are subject to various claims and liabilities that arise in the normal 
course of postal operations. These claims generally relate to labor, tort, and 
contract disputes and are regularly reviewed by management, and where 
significant, by the Audit and Finance Committee of the Board of Governors, 
and/or the full Board of Governors. In our evaluation, no single claim is 
material to our financial statements taken as a whole. 

Item 4 – Submission of matters to a vote 
of security holders 
Not applicable to the United States Postal Service. As an “independent 
establishment of the executive branch of the Government of the United 
States,” we do not issue stock or other voting securities. 
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Item 5 – Market for registrant’s common 
equity, related stockholder matters and 
issuer purchases of equity securities 
Not applicable to the United States Postal Service. As an “independent 
establishment of the executive branch of the Government of the United 
States,” we do not issue stock or other securities. 

Item 6 – Selected fnancial data 
See the Financial History Summary and Selected Quarterly Financial Data 
sections of this report. 

Item 7 – Management’s discussion 
and analysis of fnancial condition and 
results of operations 

Cautionary Statements 
Forward-looking statements contained in this report represent our best 
estimates of the trends we know about, the trends we anticipate, and the 
trends we believe are relevant to our future operations. However, actual 
results may be different from our estimates. Certain forward-looking 
statements are included in this report and use such words as “may,” “will,” 
“expect,” “believe,” “plan,” or other similar terminology. These statements 
reflect our current expectations regarding future events and operating 
performance as of the date of this report. These forward-looking state-
ments involve a number of risks and uncertainties. 

The following are some of the factors that could cause actual results to 
differ materially from those expressed in, or underlying, our forward-looking 
statements: effectiveness of operating initiatives; success in advertising 
and promotional efforts; changes in national and local business and 
economic conditions, including their impact on consumer and business 
confidence; fluctuations in currency exchange and interest rates; labor and 
other operating costs; oil, fuel and other transportation costs; the effects 
of war and terrorist activities; competition, including pricing and marketing 
initiatives and new service offerings by our competitors; consumer prefer-
ences or perceptions concerning our service offerings; spending patterns 
and demographic trends; availability of qualified personnel; severe weather 
conditions; effects of legal claims; cost and deployment of capital; changes 
in laws and regulations; costs and delays associated with new regulations 
imposed by the PRC; and changes in applicable accounting policies and 
practices. The foregoing list of important factors is not all-inclusive. We 
have no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking state-
ments, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise. 

Critical Accounting Policies 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States requires management 
to make significant judgments and estimates to develop certain amounts 
reflected and disclosed in the financial statements. In many cases, there 
are alternative policies or estimation techniques that could be used. We 
maintain a thorough process to review the application of our accounting 

policies and to evaluate the appropriateness of the many estimates that 
are required to prepare the financial statements of a large organization. 
However, even under optimal circumstances, estimates routinely require ad-
justment based on changing circumstances and new or better information. 

The three critical accounting policies that we believe are either the most 
judgmental, or involve the selection or application of alternative accounting 
policies, and are material to our financial statements are those relating to 
workers’ compensation costs, deferred revenue for prepaid postage, and 
contingent liabilities. Management has discussed the development and 
selection of these critical accounting policies and estimates with the Audit 
and Finance Committee of our Board of Governors and with the Board’s 
independent public accounting firm. In addition, retirement and health 
benefits costs for our employees and retirees represent a significant portion 
of our expenses. Any changes in laws or regulations affecting the amounts, 
timing, or administration of these benefits could have a material effect on 
our financial position and results of operations. For additional information, 
see Note 2, Summary of significant accounting policies, in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements. 

Results of Operations 
Our financial results in 2007 were a net loss of $5,142 million compared 
to net income of $900 million in 2006. These results were significantly 
impacted by  P.L.109-435. 

In 2007, our total revenue was $74,973 million, compared to $72,817 
million in 2006. All classes of mail, with the exception of Periodicals, 
showed increases mainly as a result of the May rate increase. Standard 
Mail revenue had the largest increase, $902 million, or 4.5%. 

As shown in the chart below,  P.L.109-435 added $6.8 billion in net ad-
ditional expenses in 2007. Without this legislation we would have reported 
net income of $1,634 million. The major impact of the law was to increase 
retiree health benefits expense by $8,358 million compared to 2006. 
As discussed later in this section, other changes to operating expenses 
included a decrease in compensation and benefits expense of $479 million, 
and an increase in transportation expenses of $457 million. 

On April 6, 2007, we transferred $2,958 million, representing the 
entire amount of funds held in escrow, as required by P.L.108-18, to the 
PSRHBF. Since we no longer hold these funds, there was a substantial 
decrease in interest income for the second half of the year and this will 
continue into the future. 

Financial Impacts under P.L.109 435 September 30, 2007 

(Dollars in millions) 

Net Income before legislation $ 1,634 

P.L.109-435 Impacts: 

2006 escrow transferred into PSRHBF (2,958) 

2007 PSRHBF expense (5,400) 

CSRS savings 1,582 

Net Loss $ (5,142) 
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Revenue and Volume 
Total revenue for 2007 was $74,973 million, an increase of $2,156 million 
or 3.0% from last year. The first quarter was affected favorably from the 
carryover effect of the January 2006 rate increase and a portion of the 
third quarter and all of the fourth quarter benefited from the May 2007 rate 
increase. Mail volume for 2007 was 212.2 billion pieces, a decrease of 904 
million pieces or 0.4%. Although the volume decrease was modest, the mix 
of services provided was less favorable than in previous years. Without the 
rate increase this level of volume would have resulted in lower revenue due 
to the change in service mix. 

Revenue 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

First-Class Mail $ 37,564 $ 37,039 $ 36,062 

Standard Mail 20,779 19,877 18,953 

Priority Mail 5,233 5,042 4,634 

Package Services 2,306 2,259 2,201 

Periodicals 2,188 2,215 2,161 

Express Mail 951 918 872 

International 2,036 1,794 1,765 

Other* 3,916 3,673 3,345 

Total Revenue $ 74,973 $ 72,817 $ 69,993 

* Special services revenue, other income and investment income included in “Other” category. 

2007 REVEnuE 

First-Class Mail 
Standard Mail 50% 
28% 

Priority Mail 
7% 

Package Services 
3% 

All Other 
12% 

Mail Volume By Type 2007 2006 2005 

(Pieces in millions) 

First-Class Mail 95,898 97,617 98,071 

Standard Mail 103,516 102,460 100,942 

Priority Mail 897 924 887 

Package Services 1,163 1,175 1,166 

Periodicals 8,796 9,023 9,070 

Express Mail 55 56 55 

International 833 793 852 

Other* 1,076 1,090 700 

Total Mail Volume by Type 212,234 213,138 211,743 

* Free mail for the blind and Mailgrams included in the “Other” category. 

2007 MAIL VoLuME 

First-Class Mail Other 
45% 6% 

Standard Mail 
49% 

While Standard Mail volume exceeds First-Class Mail volume, First-Class 
Mail remains, by far, the largest revenue generator, as illustrated by the two 
previous charts. 

First-Class Mail revenue increased $525 million or 1.4%, while volume 
decreased by 1.7 billion pieces, or 1.8% in 2007. The revenue increase was 
mainly a result of the May rate change. An increase of 530 million pieces 
in workshare First-Class letters and cards partially offset the continuing 
decline in single-piece volume, which was down more than 2 billion pieces, 
or 4.7%. The long-term continued decline in single-piece volume reflects 
the impact of electronic diversion as businesses, nonprofit organizations, 
governments, and households continue to move their correspondence 
and transactions to electronic alternatives, such as Internet bill payment, 
automatic deduction, and direct deposit. While most Americans still view 
mail as more secure and more private than Internet-related activities, 
consumers of all demographic groups are becoming increasingly comfort-
able with electronic alternatives. 
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First-Class Mail revenue increased $977 million in 2006 as volume 
decreased slightly. An increase of approximately 1 billion pieces, or 2.1%, 
in workshare First-Class letters partially offset the continuing decline in 
single-piece volume, which was down 1.5 billion pieces, or 3.3%. 

40 

45 

50 

55 

60 

(Pieces in billions) 

First-Class Mail Volume 

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 

Single-Piece Workshare 

In 2007, Standard Mail revenue increased by $902 million, or 4.5%, while 
volume increased 1.1 billion pieces or 1.0%. Standard Mail volume has 
grown each of the last five years. For the third consecutive year, Standard 
Mail volume has exceeded First-Class Mail volume. While Standard Mail 
has increased in volume each year since 2002, growth was tempered this 
year by a decline in Enhanced Carrier Route volume of more than 800 
million pieces. Standard Mail revenue and volume is expected to show 
year-over-year increases into the foreseeable future. 

In 2006, Standard Mail revenue increased $924 million compared with 
2005 on 1.5% volume growth. 

Spurred by the May 2007 rate increase, Priority Mail revenue increased 
$191 million, or 3.8%. Volume, however, decreased by 27 million pieces, 
or 2.9%. Priority Mail volume decreased during the last three quarters of 
2007 after an extended period of growth. Priority Mail is a price-sensitive 
service and we anticipate several quarters of slight revenue growth on 
stagnant volumes, before this service rebounds. 

Priority Mail revenue increased $408 million, or 8.8%, in 2006. Volume 
also increased, growing 4.1% in 2006, in spite of the January 2006 rate 
increase. 

Package Services revenue increased $47 million, or 2.1%, in 2007, while 
its volume decreased 12 million pieces, or 1.0%, compared to 2006. This 
volume decrease in Package Services ended four straight years of growth. 

Package Services revenue increased $58 million on a volume increase of 
9 million pieces, or 0.8%, in 2006. The Parcel Select component of Parcel 
Post was adversely affected by three major parcel consolidators, which 
ceased operations in 2006. 

Periodicals volume decreased 227 million pieces, or 2.5%, in 2007. This 
resulted in a revenue decrease of $27 million, or 1.2%, in spite of the rate 
increase. 

Although Periodicals volume declined 0.5% in 2006 revenue increased 
$54 million due to the 2006 rate increase. The volume decline continued a 
long-term trend. 

In 2007, Express Mail revenue increased $33 million, or 3.6%, while 
volume decreased one million pieces, or 1.8%, compared to 2006. Express 
Mail is our most price-sensitive service and price increases in January 
2006 and May 2007 will likely result in lower volume for this service in the 
foreseeable future. 

Express Mail revenue increased $46 million while volume increased 
475,000 pieces in 2006. This was the second consecutive year of volume 
increases for Express Mail after four years of declines. 

Our international products portfolio was simplified in conjunction with the 
May 2007 price implementation. Eight products were reduced to four, 
eliminating redundancy and reducing customer confusion. International 
product names are now linked to their domestic counterparts. New packag-
ing further reduced complexity, while cutting waste and better positioning 
our brand. The international products portfolio now comprises Global 
Express Guaranteed, Express Mail International, Priority Mail International, 
and First-Class Mail International services. The product simplification has 
had a significant effect on international volume and revenue. International 
revenue grew by $242 million, or 13.5%, while volume grew 40 million 
pieces, or 5.0%, in 2007. In addition, Foreign Postal Transactions and 
International Mail fees grew by $38 million, or 16.3%. 

In 2006, International Mail revenue increased $29 million, or 1.6%. The 
2006 rate increase offset a volume decline of 59 million pieces, or 6.9%, 
compared to 2005. 

Mail Mix Comparison 
(Pieces in billions) 
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The previous chart shows the change in the mail mix since 2001. If the 
mail mix in 2007 were as it was in 2001, we would have had an estimated 
additional $3 billion in revenue in 2007. 

Operating Expenses 
Operating expenses are comprised of compensation and benefits, retiree 
health benefits, transportation, supplies and services, depreciation and 
amortization, and other expenses. 

In 2007 total operating expenses of $80,105 million were $8,424 million 
or 11.8% more than 2006. Compensation and benefits, along with retiree 
health benefits made up 80.2% of our operating expenses. Retiree 
health benefits increased $8,447 million, or 516%, in 2007, driven by 
requirements of  P.L.109-435. See Note 4, Postal Accountability and 
Enhancement Act, Public Law 109-435 ( P.L.109-435), in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements for more information. The new law also suspended 
our retirement payments to the CSRS fund which, along with a reduction in 
the estimate of our workers’ compensation liability, led to a $479 million, 
or 0.9%, decrease in total compensation and benefit expenses. A $457 
million, or 7.6%, increase in transportation expenses also contributed to the 
increase in expenses. 

In 2006, operating expenses of $71,681 million were $3,400 million, 
or 5.0%, more than 2005. The increase was driven primarily by a 4.2% 
increase in compensation and benefits and an 11.2% increase in transpor-
tation expenses. 

Operating Expenses 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

Compensation and Benefits $ 54,186 $ 54,665 $ 52,449 

Retiree Health Benefits 10,084 1,637 1,495 

Transportation 6,502 6,045 5,437 

Other Expenses 9,333 9,334 8,900 

Total Operating Expenses $ 80,105 $ 71,681 $ 68,281 

Compensation and Benefts 
Personnel compensation and benefits comprised 67.6% of our total 
operating expenses in 2007. These costs were $479 million or 0.9%  
below 2006. The decrease was due primarily to elimination of the 
employer’s share of the CSRS contribution resulting from the enactment  
of the new law. Reductions in complement and workers’ compensation 
costs also contributed to the decrease in expenses. 

Although total compensation and benefits were lower in 2007, our labor 
costs increased by $1,118 million or 2.8%. COLA increases alone added 
$871 million to our compensation expenses. These increases were offset 
somewhat by a decrease of 36 million labor hours. Our 2007 average 
hourly labor cost increased by 1.6% compared to an increase of 4.5% in 
2006. Workers’ compensation decreased by $399 million. See Workers’ 
Compensation later in this section and Note 11, Workers’ compensation, in 
Notes to the Financial Statements for additional information. 

In 2006, personnel compensation and benefits comprised 76.3% of our 
total operating expenses. These costs increased $2,216 million or 4.2% in 
2006. The 2006 growth was primarily due to contractual pay increases, 
COLA, and health benefits payments for current employees. Our 2006 
health benefits expense for current employees increased by $245 million 
to $5,345, or 7.5% of total operating expenses. Workers’ compensation 
increased $441 million over 2005. This accounted for almost 20% of the 
total personnel compensation and benefits growth in 2006. 

Compensation and Benefits 
Expenses 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

Compensation $ 41,695 $ 40,577 $ 39,299 

Retirement 5,737 7,006 6,810 

Health Benefits 5,401 5,345 5,100 

Workers’ Compensation 880 1,279 838 

Other 473 458 402 

Total $ 54,186 $ 54,665 $ 52,449 

In addition to labor and benefits rates, workhours are a major driver of our 
compensation and benefits expense. In 2007, mail processing, customer 
service and city delivery workhours decreased by 36 million compared to 
2006, partially offsetting the higher labor rates. 

Rural delivery experienced an increase of three million workhours. The 
rural delivery workhour growth was driven by the addition of more than 
one million new rural delivery points. Other workhours decreased by three 
million compared to 2006. 

In 2006, growth in compensation and benefits was slightly tempered 
by a reduction of almost five million workhours or 0.3%. In 2006, mail 
processing, customer service and city delivery workhours decreased seven 
million hours compared to 2005, while rural delivery experienced an almost 
seven million increase in workhours. As was the case in 2007, the 2006 
rural delivery workhour growth was driven by the addition of more than one 
million new delivery points and by increased mail volume. 

Workhours have been reduced in seven of the last eight years, with 
only 2005 showing a slight increase. Since 2000, we have cumulatively 
eliminated 1,083 million workhours, which has been the single largest 
contributor to the ongoing achievement of our savings targets. 
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Workhours by Function 2007 2006 2005 

(Workhours in thousands) 

City Delivery 462,040 468,918 471,071 

Mail Processing 315,825 332,269 336,210 

Customer Services & Retail 233,791 246,538 247,512 

Rural Delivery 189,709 186,164 179,549 

Other, including Plant, Operational 
Support, and Administrative 221,636 224,840 228,911 

Total Workhours 1,423,001 1,458,729 1,463,253 

Collective bargaining agreements with all major postal unions expired in 
November 2006. Negotiations with three of four major unions resulted 
in new agreements. The American Postal Workers Union negotiated a 
four-year agreement. The National Postal Mail Handlers Union agreed to a 
new five-year agreement. And, the National Association of Letter Carriers 
also agreed to a new five-year agreement. These agreements include 
general salary increases; COLAs; and, starting in 2008, a reduction in the 
Postal Service’s share of health benefit premiums. Our negotiations with 
the National Rural Letter Carriers Association (NRLCA) ended without an 
agreement and we have entered into the binding arbitration process. 

As mentioned above, COLA base changes were included in the new agree-
ments. Our annualized COLA for 2007 was $686 per eligible employee. 
APWU and NPMHU members received this COLA in 2007. The agreement 
with NALC included a lump sum payment of $686 per eligible employee in 
lieu of COLA. 

Our nonbargaining employees receive pay increases through a pay-for-
performance program that makes meaningful distinctions in performance. 
These employees do not receive automatic salary increases, nor do they 
receive COLAs or locality pay. 

Retirement Expense 
Our employees participate in one of three retirement programs of the 
U.S. government based on the starting date of their employment with the 
federal government. These programs are the Civil Service Retirement 
System (CSRS), the Dual CSRS/Social Security System (Dual CSRS), 
and the Federal Employees Retirement System (FERS). The programs are 
administered by the OPM. See Note 10, Retirement programs, in the Notes 
to the Financial Statements for additional information. 

The expenses of all of our retirement programs are included in compensa-
tion and benefits expense. Our retirement expenses for current employees 
represented 7.2% of our total operating expenses in 2007 and 9.8% in 
2006. The decrease in 2007 was mainly due to the enactment of  
 P.L.109-435, which suspended our CSRS retirement contribution as of 
October 14, 2006. 

As described in Note 2, Summary of significant accounting policies, in the 
Notes to the Financial Statements, we account for our participation in the 
retirement programs of the U.S. government under multiemployer plan 
accounting rules, in accordance with Financial Accounting Standard Board 

Statement 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pension Costs. Although the Civil 
Service Retirement and Disability Fund (CSRDF) is a single fund and does 
not maintain separate accounts for individual agencies, the following table 
provides OPM’s estimation of the funding status of the CSRS and FERS 
programs for Postal Service participants as of September 30, 2006. This is 
the most recent data provided by OPM. 

Present Value Analysis of Retirement 
Programs as Calculated by OPM 
(9/30/06 latest data available) CSRS FERS Total 

(Dollars in billions) 

Present Value of Benefits $ 193.7 $ 86.6 $ 280.3 

Present Value of Contributions * 3.2 37.3 40.5 

Current Fund Balance 207.6 58.0 265.6 

Surplus $ 17.1 $ 8.7 $ 25.8 

Transferred to PSRHBF in 2007 (17.1) - (17.1) 

Adjusted Surplus $ - $ 8.7 $ 8.7 

* Expected employer and employee contributions 

Health Benefts 
We participate in the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program (FEHBP), 
which is administered by OPM. We account for our employee and retiree 
health benefit costs as an expense in the period our contribution is due and 
payable to FEHBP using multiemployer plan accounting rules in accordance 
with Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement 106 (FAS 106), 
Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions. 

The drivers of our active employee health care costs are the number of 
employees electing coverage and the premium costs of the plans they select. 
In 2007, health benefit expenses for active employees were $5,401 million, 
an increase of $56 million over 2006. This was 6.7% of our total operating 
expenses. The 2006 expense of $5,345 million was 7.5% of our total 
operating expenses, and increased by $245 million, or 4.8%, over 2005. 

Premiums for each plan participating in FEHBP are determined annually 
by OPM. OPM announced average premium increases effective in January 
2007 were 1.8%, 6.6% in January 2006, and 7.9% in January 2005. In 
September 2007, OPM announced an average premium increase of 2.0% 
for January 2008. The low level of premium increases in 2007 and those 
announced for 2008 are the result of lower plan costs, and the application 
of plan reserves to lower premiums. 

Retiree Health Benefts 
Eligible postal employees, those with at least five consecutive years 
participation in the FEHBP immediately preceding retirement, are entitled 
to continue to participate in FEHBP postretirement. As outlined in FAS 
106, the amount we pay into the PSRHBF, plus our portion of the current 
premium expense is recognized as an expense when due. See Note 4, 
Postal Accountability and Enhancement Act, Public Law 109-435  
(P.L.109-435) and Note 9, Health benefit programs, in Notes to the 
Financial Statements, for further discussion of this accounting treatment. 
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 P.L.109-435 made several changes to the way we fund and report our 
obligations for postretirement health benefits. The new law established 
the PSRHBF and directed OPM to determine any Postal Service surplus 
in the Civil Service Retirement and Disability Fund as of September 30, 
2006 and to deposit the surplus into the PSRHBF by June 30, 2007. OPM 
attributed to the Postal Service, a surplus of $17.1 billion in the CSRS fund 
as of September 30, 2006 and transferred the funds as required on June 
29, 2007. P.L.109-435 also required that we begin to fund the OPM-
determined obligation for retiree health benefits by paying into the PSRHBF 
the 2006 escrow resulting from P.L.108-18 ($2.958 billion) and by making 
additional annual payments averaging $5.6 billion per year through 2016. 
Beginning in 2017, the PSRHBF will begin to pay our portion of the premium 
payments. The 2007 payment to the PSRHBF was $5.4 billion. 

Under  P.L.109-435, OPM will continue to charge us for our portion of the 
premiums for postal retirees currently participating in FEHBP and we will 
continue to expense these payments as they become due until 2017. The 
major drivers of our retiree health benefits premium costs are the number 
of current participants on the rolls, the mix of plans selected by retirees, 
the premium costs of those plans, and the apportionment of premium costs 
to the federal government for retiree service prior to 1971. Retiree health 
benefit premium expense, exclusive of the expense for the PSRHBF, has 
increased every year. The 5.4% increase in 2007 was smaller than in prior 
years due to lower premium costs and the application of plan reserves 
to lower premiums. In 2006, retiree health benefit expenses increased 
9.5%. The number of Postal Service annuitants and survivors has grown 
to approximately 450,000 in 2007 compared to 448,000 in 2006 and 
444,000 in 2005. The average monthly apportionment, the percentage of 
retiree premiums charged to the Postal Service, has increased from 64.7% 
in 2005 to 69.1% in 2007. 

A summary of the retiree health benefits expense for 2007, 2006, and 
2005 is included in the table below. 

Retiree Health Benefits Expense 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

Employer Premium Expense $ 1,726 $ 1,637 $ 1,495 

Transfer of 2006 Escrow to PSRHBF 2,958 - -

P.L.109-435 Scheduled Payment 5,400 - -

Total $ 10,084 $ 1,637 $ 1,495 

Beginning in 2008,  P.L.109-435 also requires that OPM provide, and that 
we report, certain information concerning the obligations, costs, and fund-
ing status of the PSRHBF. The OPM estimate was prepared in accordance 
with Federal Accounting Standards Advisory Board (FASAB) Statement of 
Federal Financial Accounting Standards (SFFAS) 5. SFFAS 5 requires the 
use of the aggregate Entry Age Normal actuarial cost method. As discussed 
below, this method is different from the one we used in calculating our 
obligation in 2006. The following table provides some of the required  
P.L.109-435 disclosures. 

Present Value Analysis of Retiree Health Benefits Fund as Calculated 
by OPM (Medical Inflation Assumption @ 7%) 

(Dollars in millions) 

Obligations at Inception* $ 74,815 

Plus Interest @ 6.25% 4,676 

Plus Normal Payments 3,175 

Less Premium Payments 1,880 

Subtotal 80,786 

Contributions & Transfers** 25,458 

Earnings @ 5% 287 

Ending Obligations 9/30/07 $ 55,041 

* OPM calculated the beginning obligation as of 9/30/06. 

** Contributions and transfers of $2,958 million, $17,100 million and $5,400 million were made 
April 6, 2007, June 29, 2007, and September 28, 2007, respectively. 

Because there are several areas of judgment involved in calculating this 
obligation, estimates can vary widely depending on the assumptions used. 
Utilizing the same underlying data that was used in preparing the estimate 
in the chart above, the September 30, 2007 obligation could range from 
$49 billion to $69 billion, solely by varying the inflation rate by plus or 
minus 1%. 

As an “independent establishment of the executive branch of the 
Government of the United States,” we are required to account for our 
participation in FEHBP using multiemployer plan accounting rules. If we 
were not a participant in the federal government plan and not subject 
to the provisions of P.L.109-435, we would be required to record and 
disclose our obligation for future health benefit obligations under FAS 106. 
In 2006, we contracted with an independent actuarial firm to estimate 
our future retiree health benefit obligations under FAS 106. The FAS 
106 methodology is different from the one used by OPM to calculate our 
estimated 2007 obligation. Because there are several areas of judgment 
involved in calculating this obligation, estimates can vary widely based 
on the assumptions used. Our assumptions used for long-term medical 
inflation premiums in calculating our liability ranged from 5% to 6%. Based 
on September 30, 2006 data, we estimated that if we sponsored our own 
plan with costs and benefits similar to the federal plans, the 2006 value of 
future payments would be between $50 billion and $58 billion. The range 
in the estimate exists only because long-term medical inflation assump-
tions differed by 1%. 

Workers’ Compensation 
Our employees are covered by the Federal Employees’ Compensation 
Act, administered by the Department of Labor’s Office of Workers’ 
Compensation Programs (OWCP), which makes all decisions regarding 
injured workers’ eligibility for benefits. However, we pay all workers’ 
compensation claims from postal funds. 

We record as a liability the present value of all future payments we expect 
to make to those employees receiving workers’ compensation. At the end of 
2007, we estimate our total liability for future workers’ compensation costs 

26 | 2007 Annual Report United States Postal Service 



  

 

 

 

 

 

Financial Section Part II 

at $7,771 million, a decrease of $92 million or 1.2% from 2006. In 2006 
our liability increased $342 million or 4.5% from 2005. 

In 2007, we experienced a 4.6% decrease in the number of paid medical 
claims and a 0.2% decrease in the number of paid compensation claims. 
Although the number of paid claims decreased, the actual cost of claims 
increased $41 million over 2006. A factor in this increase was the 2.4% 
March 2007 COLA, which raised the payments to all compensation 
claimants on the rolls. 

As discussed in detail in Note 11, Workers’ compensation, in the Notes 
to the Financial Statements, we utilized a calculation performed by an 
independent actuary to estimate our liability for 2007. This calculation 
combined two generally accepted actuarial valuation techniques: the paid 
loss development method and the incremental frequency/severity method. 
Both of these methods were used to separately estimate a liability for 
compensation and medical claims. Adoption of this new approach required 
that we reconsider all the assumptions that go into estimating liability for 
both claim types. We changed a number of assumption changes that were 
individually insignificant, but that were, in our judgment, necessary to 
produce the most realistic estimate in the new model. 

We also engaged a separate independent actuary to evaluate the discount 
and inflation rates used in estimating our liability and made changes 
to these rates in 2007 as well. As discussed in more detail in Note 11, 
Workers’ compensation, in the Notes to the Financial Statements, the 
actuarial model used in 2007 uses separate inflation and discount rates for 
compensation and medical claims, while the model used in 2006 and prior 
years used net discount rates for both claim types. 

The net effect of the adoption of new actuarial valuation techniques and 
new inflation and discount rates was a reduction in 2007 expenses of 
$685 million. 

In 2006, the number of paid medical claims and the number of paid 
compensation claims decreased 2.3% and 1.7% respectively. Although 
the number of paid claims decreased, the actual cost of claims increased 
$45 million over 2005, again influenced by the annual March COLA, which 
raised the payments to all compensation claimants on the rolls 3.5%. The 
$45 million increase in the cost of claims also was the driver behind the 
$342 million increase in our total liability. 

The lower number of claims in 2007 and 2006 is a result of our efforts to 
prevent workplace injuries and our joint initiative with OWCP to increase 
the number of injured employees returned to work. In the final year of a 
five-year program, we successfully met and exceeded our goal to outplace 
1,000 employees from workers’ compensation rolls. There have been a 
total of 1,029 successful outplacements and rehabilitations. This program 
has long-term effects on the cost of workers’ compensation by reducing 
the base costs. 

Transportation Expenses 
Transportation expenses for 2007 were $6,502 million, an increase of 
$457 million, or 7.6%, compared to 2006. Transportation costs are largely 
made up of air and highway transportation. 

Transportation Expense 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

Air Transportation $ 2,990 $ 2,771 $ 2,445 

Highway Transportation 3,150 2,977 2,658 

Other Transportation 362 297 334 

Total Transportation Expense $ 6,502 $ 6,045 $ 5,437 

AIR TRAnsPoRTATIon 
Air transportation expenses for 2007 were $2,990 million, an increase of 
$219 million, or 7.9% compared to the same period last year. The increase 
was driven by a growth in mail volume on our cargo carriers and the 
expansion of peak season operations, which provided improved service to 
our customers. Additional contributing factors were increases in contract 
rates for the offshore networks and an increase in fuel expenditures. With 
the five percent growth in international volume, we also saw a correspond-
ing increase in international air expense compared to 2006. 

Air transportation expenses for 2006 were $2,771 million, an increase 
of $326 million, or 13.3% from 2005. In 2006 the increase was due to 
increased fuel charges and increased mail volume on our cargo carriers. 

HIGHWAy TRAnsPoRTATIon 
Highway transportation expenses for 2007 were $3,150 million, an in-
crease of $173 million, or 5.8% over 2006. This was driven by an increase 
in the number of miles driven, contractual rate increases for the contract 
drivers, and delivery growth. The increase in fuel prices was somewhat 
neutralized through leveraging our buying power to obtain favorable pricing 
by consolidating fueling points and bulk purchasing. 

In 2006, our highway transportation expenses were $2,977 million, an 
increase of $319 million, or 12.0% over 2005. These increases were 
primarily driven by diesel fuel prices and contractual rate increases. 

oTHER TRAnsPoRTATIon 
Other transportation expenses for 2007 were $362 million, an increase 
of $65 million, or 21.9% mainly driven by international terminal dues 
settlements to foreign postal administrations and Expedited Mail delivery 
transactions compared to 2006. Terminal dues settlements are the fees we 
pay to foreign postal administrations for the outbound international mail that 
they deliver for us. 

In 2006, other transportation expenses were $297 million, a decrease of 
$37 million, or 11.1%, primarily as a result of our decision to reduce the 
use of rail to transport mail and shift this mail onto highway routes. 
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Other Expenses 
Other operating expenses of $9,333 million for 2007 were 1 million less 
than last year’s comparable amount, as shown in the table that follows. 

Other Operating Expenses 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

Supplies and Services 

Depreciation and Amortization 

Rent and Utilities 

Vehicle Maintenance Service 

$ 2,594 

2,152 

1,700 

760 

$ 2,643 

2,149 

1,721 

709 

$ 2,557 

2,089 

1,590 

586 

Information Technology and 
Communications 630 649 652 

Rural Carrier Equipment Maint. 
Allowance 

Other 

495 

1,002 

485 

978 

449 

977 

Total Other Operating Expenses $ 9,333 $ 9,334 $ 8,900 

In 2006, other expenses increased $434 million or 4.9%. The increase 
was driven by higher fuels costs, which increased both utilities and vehicles 
maintenance services. The latter category includes the fuels used by our 
carriers to deliver mail in the community. 

Productivity 
We use a single indicator to measure productivity, which is called total 
factor productivity (TFP). TFP measures the change in the relationship 
between outputs (workload processed) and inputs (resource usage). 
Workload consists of weighted mail volume, and our expanding delivery 
network. Resources consist of labor, materials (including transportation), 
and deployed capital assets. Workload minus resources used equals total 
factor productivity. 

During 2007, TFP improved 1.7%, which is equivalent to $1.2 billion in 
expense savings. This marks the eighth consecutive year of TFP growth, a 
cumulative growth of 12.3%, and an overall expense reduction equivalent 
to $8.2 billion during this time. Productivity gains are a result of effective 
workforce management, efficient use of material (supplies and services to 
include transportation), and maximizing the return-on-capital investments 
(mainly automation). During 2006, TFP grew 0.4%. 

The aggregate workload for FY 2007 declined 0.2%. This was mainly due 
to a sharp decline in weighted mail volume, driven by the 4.7% decline 
in First-Class single-piece mail volume. Despite the workload decrease, 
resources were managed effectively, resulting in a 2.5% decline compared 
to last year. 

The following graph shows the TFP cumulative trend from 1971 through 
2007. 

Total Factor Productivity Cumulative Percent Change 
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Service and Performance 
Management monitors several key statistics to determine performance 
against our service standards. The major indicators we monitor are the 
External First-Class (EXFC) on-time mail delivery scores and the Customer 
Satisfaction Measurement (CSM) scores. 

EXFC is an independently-administered system that provides an external 
measure of delivery performance from collection box to mailbox. Although 
not a system-wide measurement of all First-Class Mail performance, EXFC 
continuously tests a panel of 463 3-digit ZIP Code areas selected on the 
basis of geographic area and volume density, thereby providing a measure 
of service performance from the customer’s point of view. In the fourth 
quarter, we achieved record service scores for all categories. Results of 
these measures for the last four quarters are listed below. 

EXFC Service 
Performance Scores Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

(Percentage delivered on time) 

Overnight Delivery 95 95 96 96 

2-Day Delivery 91 91 93 94 

3-Day Delivery 86 88 91 93 

CSM is an independently administered survey of customer opinions about 
key areas of service to residential customers. Customer satisfaction 
levels remained constant across the last four quarters, which included 
the implementation of a rate increase in May of 2007. The following table 
displays the residential satisfaction results for the last four quarters. 
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Customer Satisfaction 
Measurement Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

(Percentage) 

Service rated excellent, 
very good or good 92 92 92 92 

 P.L.109-435 mandates that we, in consultation with the PRC, establish a 
set of “modern service standards” for mailing services within one year after 
the date of enactment of the law. We have worked with the PRC to finalize 
the new standards and have issued a Federal Register notice seeking public 
input on the proposed new standards. 

Capital Resources and Liquidity 
CAPITAL InVEsTMEnTs 
The Board of Governors approves the budget for investments in capital 
each year. The Board also approves all major capital projects, generally 
defined as projects greater than $25 million. At the beginning of 2007, 
there were 37 Board-approved projects in progress, which represent $6.2 
billion in approved capital funding. During the year, the Board approved four 
new projects, which totaled $1.7 billion in additional capital funding. A total 
of ten projects representing $1.1 billion in approved capital funding were 
completed and one project was canceled. The year ended with 30 open 
projects that amount to $6.8 billion in approved capital. 

While the funding for a project is authorized in one year, the commitment 
or contract to purchase or build may take place over several years. By year-
end, approximately $5.6 billion had been committed to these 30 projects. 
Actual capital cash outlays will occur over several years. Through the end of 
2007, approximately $4.0 billion has been paid for the 30 projects. 

Of the 30 active Board-approved projects, 20 are for mail processing 
equipment, eight for facilities and two for other projects: retail equipment 
and human resources shared services. In 2007, capital commitments for all 
projects were $2.6 billion. See Note 7, Leases and other commitments, in 
the Notes to the Financial Statements for additional information. 

noteworthy projects approved in 2007 include: 

Phase One of the Flat Sequencing System (FSS), which will deploy 
100 systems to between 30 and 60 facilities. The FSS sorts flat mail to 
carrier delivery point sequence at a rate of 40,000 pieces per hour with 
a two-pass operational throughput of nearly 18,000 pieces per run hour. 
The FSS will fully automate the Delivery Point Sequencing of flat mail for 
selected delivery sites, which will reduce the time carriers spend in-office 
sorting flat mail. 

We purchased 5,856 carrier route vehicles. This vehicle purchase 
completed a three-part acquisition plan to provide vehicles to rural routes 
as agreed with the NRLCA. 

We will also acquire 211 additional delivery barcode sorters (DBCS) and 
797 stacker modules for existing DBCS machines. The additional equip-
ment will increase the percentage of letter mail processed in automated 
operations and provide labor savings in manual sorting operations. 

Our capital plan supports future needs by developing and implementing 
new automation equipment that will increase our operating efficiency and 
generate a high return on investment. These programs are expected to 
reduce workhours in our distribution, processing and delivery operations. 
We plan to continue to invest funds to maintain our infrastructure, including 
facilities, vehicles and technology systems. 

Our facilities program will continue to address life, health, safety, 
operational needs and security. We expect to maintain our infrastructure 
through high priority replacement projects and ongoing repair and alteration 
projects. 

LIquIDITy 
Our liquidity is the cash we have with the U.S. Treasury and the amount 
of money we can borrow on short notice if needed. Our note purchase 
agreement with the Federal Financing Bank, renewed in 2007, provides for 
revolving credit lines of $4.0 billion. These credit lines enable us to draw 
up to $3.4 billion with two days notice and up to $600 million on the same 
business day the funds are needed. Under this agreement we can also use 
a series of other notes with varying provisions to draw upon with two days 
notice. This arrangement provides us the flexibility to borrow short-term 
or long-term, using fixed- or floating-rate debt that is either callable or 
noncallable. These arrangements with the Federal Financing Bank provide 
us with adequate tools to effectively fund our cash requirements and man-
age our interest expense and risk. See Note 5, Debt and related interest, in 
Notes to the Financial Statements for additional information about our debt 
obligations. 

The amount we can borrow is limited by certain statutory limits. Our total 
debt outstanding cannot exceed $15 billion and the net increase in debt at 
year-end for any fiscal year cannot exceed $3 billion. Both of these limits 
preceded  P.L.109-435, and the amounts were not altered by the law. 
The new law, however, did remove separate annual borrowing limits within 
the $3 billion annual limit. Prior to enactment of the new law, there were 
separate limits for debt issued for capital expenditures and debt issued to 
defray operating expenses. P.L.109-435 also imposed a new requirement 
that we identify borrowing for shipping services and borrowing for mailing 
services. The new law also instructs that until such time as accounting 
practices and principles for determining such borrowings are finalized 
by the PRC, the Postal Service must make such identification using the 
best information available at the time. During 2007, since rules had yet 
to be determined, we used information that we determined to be the best 
available. We estimated that borrowing for competitive product represented 
$438 million, calculated as 10.4% of our total year-end debt outstanding 
with the Federal Financing Bank. 

Looking forward, our liquidity will be comprised of the approximately $1 
billion of cash that we have entering 2008, the cash flow that we generate 
from operations and the $3 billion that we can borrow if necessary. As was 
the case in 2007, for 2008 we do not expect cash flow from operations to 
supply adequate cash to fund our capital investments and  P.L.109-435 
payment requirements. Consequently, we anticipate increasing debt next 
year by approximately $1 billion. 

The majority of our revenue is earned in cash. The majority of our cash 
outflow is to support our biweekly payroll. Consequently, we are dependent 
on our ability to continue to generate cash from operations to satisfy our 
liquidity requirements. Cash flow from operations is at a seasonal peak in 
our first quarter and seasonal low in our fourth quarter. We make significant 
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cash payments in the fourth quarter for workers’ compensation and retiree 
health benefits. Consequently we incurred $4.2 billion debt at the end of 
2007 to fund approximately $6.3 billion in payments. This debt will be 
repaid in the first half of 2008 from operating cash receipts. It should also 
be noted that $3.9 billion of the current liabilities on our balance sheet at 
September 30, 2007, represents items for which we have already collected 
cash, but have a remaining obligation to perform a future service. 

The following table illustrates our major cash flow obligations in future 
years. 

Schedule of Commitments 
Retiree Health 

Benefits Leases 

(Dollars in millions) 

2008 $ 5,600 $ 862 

2009 5,400 846 

2010 5,500 801 

2011 5,500 738 

2012 5,600 673 

After 2012 22,800 5,574 

Total Commitments $ 50,400 $ 9,494 

Cash Flow 
CAsH FLoWs FRoM oPERATInG ACTIVITIEs 
Net cash used in operating activities was $2.6 billion in 2007 compared 
to $3.8 billion provided by operating activities in 2006. The year-to-year 
decrease of $6.4 billion was driven mainly by the $8.4 billion in payments 
to the PSRHBF in 2007, as required by  P.L.109-435, partially offset by 
the $1.6 billion in CSRS payments that we are no longer required to make. 
This is also reflected in our 2007 net loss of $5.1 billion compared to 2006 
net income of $900 million. Additional cash was provided in 2007 by an 
increase in other noncurrent liabilities of $275 million primarily contingent 
liabilities, an increase in compensation and benefits liabilities of $347 
million and increased collections of accounts receivable of $80 million. 
These cash flow increases were partially offset by decreases in payables 
and accrued expenses of $73 million, and customer deposit accounts and 
outstanding money orders of $186 million. 

In 2006, net cash provided by operating activities of $3.8 billion was $38 
million more than 2005. Increases in cash payments for compensation 
and transportation expenses were offset by increases to non-cash 
liabilities such as accrued payroll and leave of $304 million and workers’ 
compensation of $342 million. Also contributing was $169 million of 
increased collections in accounts receivable in 2006, increased investment 
income of $81 million, $55 million of additional money orders outstanding 
at year-end, and a decrease in the interest expense payment on deferred 
retirement obligations of $32 million. 

CAsH FLoWs FRoM InVEsTInG ACTIVITIEs 
Net cash provided by investing activities was $500 million in 2007 
compared to $5.5 billion used in 2006. Nearly all of the year-over-year 
change can be attributed to the almost $3.0 billion that was placed in 
escrow as restricted cash in 2006, and then was removed from restricted 
cash when transferred to the new PSRHBF in 2007. Capital cash outlays of 
$2.7 billion increased slightly from the $2.6 billion in 2006. Proceeds from 
the sale of property were $39 million in 2007 compared to $114 million 
in 2006. In 2007, the sale of the James A. Farley Building and several 
Philadelphia properties resulted in proceeds from building sales of $218 
million. Excluding the escrow, net cash flow used in investing activities 
would have been virtually unchanged at $2.5 billion for both 2007 and 
2006, rather than the $500 million and $5.5 billion reported. 

Net cash used in investing activities was $5.5 billion in 2006 compared to 
$2.3 billion in 2005. The increase reflects increased investment for mail 
processing equipment, retail equipment, and building improvements. The 
2006 increase also reflects the placement of $3.0 billion into a restricted 
cash account (mentioned above) as required by P.L.108-18. 

CAsH FLoWs FRoM FInAnCInG ACTIVITIEs 
Net cash provided by financing activities was $2.0 billion and $2.0 billion 
for 2007 and 2006, respectively. Our borrowing from the Federal Financing 
Bank increased $2.1 billion in both years. 

In 2006 after funding our escrow requirements for P.L.108-18, we borrowed 
$2.1 billion to fund capital investments and provide operating cash for 
future operations. 

Financing Activities 
DEBT 
As an “independent establishment of the executive branch of the 
Government of the United States,” we receive no tax dollars for ongoing 
operations. We are self-supporting, and have not received an appropriation 
for operational costs since 1982. We fund our operations chiefly through 
cash generated from operations. However, unlike companies in the private 
sector, we are not permitted to raise capital through the equity markets. 
Historically our only long-term source of outside capital is through borrow-
ing from the Federal Financing Bank. Under the provisions of  P.L.109-435, 
however, the Postal Service has the statutory authority to earn profits and 
retain earnings. 

The amount we borrow is largely determined by the difference between 
our cash flow from operations and our capital cash outlays. Our capital 
cash outlays consist of the funds invested back into the business for new 
facilities, new automation equipment and new services. Throughout most of 
2007 and 2006, we were debt-free, borrowing only to meet year-end cash 
disbursement requirements. On September 30, 2007, we had $4.2 billion in 
debt outstanding, a $2.1 billion increase from last year. 
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Debt At Year-End 
(Dollars in billions) 
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InTEREsT ExPEnsE 
Our debt since 2004 has consisted of short-term debt obligations, which 
provided us with the flexibility to repay debt with available cash on a daily 
basis. A major benefit of the short-term obligations was the reduction in 
interest expense payable to the Federal Financing Bank. As a result, our 
interest expense on borrowings has been at the lowest levels since the 
early 1970’s. 

Other Interest Expense 
(Dollars in millions) 
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Other interest expense excludes interest on deferred retirement obligations and the 2003 debt 
repurchase expense. 

InTEREsT AnD InVEsTMEnT InCoME 
When we determine that our available funds exceed our current needs, 
we invest those funds with the U.S. Treasury’s Bureau of Public Debt 
in overnight securities issued by the U.S. Treasury. With marginal debt 
to repay, and increased cash on hand during recent years, we earned 
investment income of $169 million in 2007, $140 million in 2006, and $60 
million in 2005. 

We also recognize imputed interest on the funds owed to us under 
the Revenue Forgone Act of 1993. Under the Act, Congress agreed to 
reimburse us $29 million annually through 2035. See Note 12, Revenue 
forgone, in the Notes to the Financial Statements for additional information. 

Interest and Investment Income 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

Investment Income $ 169 $ 140 $ 60 

Imputed interest on accounts 
receivable from the U.S. government 25 25 25 

Other Interest 1 2 1 

Total $ 195 $ 167 $ 86 

Legislative Update 

APPRoPRIATIons 
Although we are self-funded and do not receive an appropriation for our 
operations, we have received appropriations to reimburse us for certain 
statutorily-mandated services. 

In September 2007, the President signed P.L.110-92 making continuing 
appropriations for 2008. The measure provides funding for the federal 
government through November 16, 2007 at essentially the same levels as 
that provided in 2007. For the Postal Service, this includes $29 million for 
revenue forgone and $80 million for free mail for the blind. 

These amounts are subject to change because the 2008 appropriations 
process has not yet been finalized. See Note 12, Revenue Forgone, in the 
Notes to Financial Statements for additional information. 

Do noT MAIL LEGIsLATIon 
In 2007, Do Not Mail legislative bills were introduced in 15 state legislatures 
nationwide. These bills, modeled after the Do Not Call registry, are 
designed to limit or stop advertising mail from being mailed to households. 

We oppose legislation that would limit mailing or interfere with the 
availability of an affordable, universal postal system. Our response to Do 
Not Mail legislation is to provide information to stakeholders, including the 
American public, on the value of mail, including the impact the mailing 
industry has on the U.S. economy, and the fact that mail supports the free 
exchange of ideas, a cornerstone of our democracy. 

We are working on educating the American public on ways that they can 
manage their mail. Consumers currently have options that allow them to 
limit the catalogs they receive, temporarily halt advertising mail through 
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the Direct Marketing Association’s “Mail Preference Service”, and stop 
unwanted credit card solicitations by signing on a number of web sites. 

In addition, we have been working closely with the mailing industry on 
ways to help the industry maintain accurate mailing address lists. Several 
working groups within the Postal Service and within the mailing industry 
are examining ways in which Intelligent Mail can be used to help keep 
addresses as current as possible. For example, the list of all residential and 
business addresses will now be updated every three months on First-Class 
Mail service; this is a change from the previous twice-a-year updates, and 
for the first time, Move Update services will occur every three months for 
Standard Mail service. 

We are also educating direct marketers on the need to send targeted 
direct mailpieces to consumers who are interested in their products and 
services. By using existing data, mailers can customize mailings and send 
cost-efficient targeted mailing campaigns. A consumer choice approach 
to mailings will not only increase the value of the mail, but will provide a 
greater return on investment for mailers. 

Should a state pass Do Not Mail legislation it would result in lost revenue 
for the Postal Service. While none of the state bills passed during 2007, 
in seven states the 2007 legislation automatically will be carried over 
to the 2008 session. The bills in those seven states do not need to be 
re-introduced in order to be considered. 

AVIATIon sECuRITy 
On August 10, 2007, President Bush signed the Implementing 
Recommendations of the 9/11 Commission Act of 2007 (P.L.110-53) into 
law. This law mandates the screening of half of all air cargo on passenger 
planes within 18 months, and 100% of all such cargo after three years. 

The screening must provide a level of security commensurate with the level 
of security for the screening of passenger-checked baggage. Screening 
is defined as physical examination or the use of non-intrusive methods of 
assessing whether cargo poses a threat to transportation security. Methods 
of screening identified in the law include X-ray systems, explosive detection 
systems, explosives trace detection, explosive detection canine teams certi-
fied by the TSA, or a physical search together with manifest verification. 
The TSA may approve additional methods, such as a program to certify the 
security methods used by shippers. 

The precise effects of the law, however, are uncertain and will depend on 
how the TSA implements the law, as well the screening methods that are 
approved. 

Evolutionary Network Development 
The Evolutionary Network Development process systematically identifies 
potential operations and network changes to create a more flexible postal 
distribution and transportation network. For network changes, our focus 
has been to reduce redundancy inherent in maintaining different transporta-
tion networks for different mail classes. A successful transportation network 
must be flexible and allowed to adapt to provide low cost, reliable service in 
a fluctuating market. 

Outlook 
The long-predicted slowdown in macroeconomic growth arrived in 2007 
with gross domestic product (GDP) growth of 2.1%. The outlook for 2008 
calls for continued sluggish growth. Though still a minority, a growing 
number of economists are predicting a recession. This concern is fueled by 
continuing high energy prices, prolonged weakness in the housing market, 
and tighter credit. Virtually all economists are anticipating weak growth. 
Based on Global Insight’s forecast, we anticipate that GDP growth will be 
around 2.0% in 2008. 

Several other factors also weigh heavily on the business outlook of the 
Postal Service. Growth in retail sales, employment, and investment, all 
drivers of mail demand, is expected to be weak in 2008. 

We project revenue to increase by $3.2 billion, or 4.3% to $78.2 billion in 
2008 on a slight volume increase. This expected revenue increase is due 
primarily to the May 2007 price increase. 

As a result of the May 2007 price increase, First-Class Mail revenue is 
expected to rise between 2% and 3% while volume is expected to decline 
less than 1% during 2008. Electronic alternatives to mail will continue to 
decrease First-Class Mail volume. We expect single-piece First-Class Mail 
letters and flats will once again decline by more than one billion pieces. 
This may be offset to some degree by growth in First-Class Mail workshare 
letters and flats. The outlook for single-piece First-Class Mail is less robust 
because of the expected slowdown in retail sales. 

Standard Mail revenue is expected to grow between 6% and 7% while 
volume grows by less than 1%. Though less profitable than First-Class Mail, 
we believe that Standard Mail revenue and volume will continue to increase. 
In particular, automated regular bulk rate mail should see healthy increases 
while Enhanced Carrier Route mail will have only modest increases. 

Package Services volume is expected to decline by less than 1% in 2008 
while revenue grows by 6% to 8%. Although the component mix of this 
product is changing, we do not anticipate any significant changes of the 
product volume in the foreseeable future. 

Periodicals revenue is projected to increase in the 10% range on a volume 
decline of 2% to 3% in 2008. We expect the modest year-over-year 
declines in Periodicals volume to continue. In addition to the effects of the 
economy mentioned above, the reading habits of Americans are changing. 
The decline in Periodicals volume, in conjunction with population growth, is 
a clear indicator of the effect of electronic media. 

The competitive landscape for postal services is increasingly global in terms 
of customer choices and service providers. International Mail volume in 
2008 will be affected by both the 2007 rate simplification and new rate 
implementation. We anticipate these two revenue-enhancing strategies may 
combine for a revenue increase of up to 5%. 
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Network Growth 
We estimate that network growth in 2008 will continue at the 2007 level of 
1.8 million delivery points per year. Expansion of the delivery network, while 
increasing the number of customers served, also causes continuing upward 
cost pressures. 

Despite the recent slowdown in the housing market, long-term trends for 
housing can be expected to track long-term trends in population. Household 
growth will translate into a continuing expansion of our delivery network. As 
the population and delivery network continue to grow, we expect First-Class 
Mail volume to continue to decline. This combination of trends will continue 
to challenge us to build other postal business and increase productivity to 
continue to finance the nation’s universal delivery system. 

Expense Growth 
Total expenses for 2008 are estimated at $78.8 billion, a 1.6% reduction 
from 2007 expenses of $80.1 billion. This reduction in expenses is primar-
ily due to the effects of legislation  P.L.109-435 that occurred in 2007.  
 P.L.109-435 increased expenses by $6.8 billion in 2007, as we began 
funding the PSRHBF. This impact included the $2.958 billion payment 
from escrow, which was expensed in 2007 and placed into the PSRHBF. 
Excluding this one time escrow payment, personnel costs in 2008 are 
estimated to increase by approximately $700 million or 1.2%, primarily 
driven by cost-of-living adjustments, contractual pay increases, and 
increases in health benefits costs. This will be offset by a planned reduction 
of 28 million work hours. This work-hour reduction target is equal to 
approximately 14,000 full-time equivalent employees. Contract agreements 
are in place with all unions through at least 2010 except the NRLCA. 
Personnel costs in 2008 including retiree health benefits are expected to 
account for 79% of total expenses. 

Nonpersonnel costs, excluding transportation, are estimated to increase by 
about $550 million, a 6.0% increase primarily driven by projected inflation. 
Transportation costs are also estimated to increase by $400 million, or 
6.0%, compared with 2007, due to contractual obligations and expected 
increases in energy prices. 

We cannot estimate the additional costs associated with modifying any 
of our systems that will be required to separately report the financial 
activity of shipping services at this time. Additional costs as a result of the 
new financial reporting requirements, costs of complying with new PRC 
regulations, and the cost of compliance with the requirements of Section 
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act have not yet been determined. 

Item 7A – Quantitative and qualitative 
disclosures about market risk 

Market Risk Disclosure 
In the normal course of business, we are exposed to market risk from 
changes in commodity prices, certain foreign currency exchange rate 
fluctuations, and interest rates. We do not use derivative financial instru-
ments to manage market risks. Additionally, we do not purchase or hold 
derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

Interest Rate Risk 
We have not used derivative financial instruments to manage risk related to 
interest rate fluctuations for debt instruments. 

We estimate that a 1.0% increase in interest rates would have an 
insignificant impact on our financial statements due to the structure of our 
investment portfolio. 

Labor Contracts 
As discussed in Item 1A, Risk Factors, the contracts with three of our four 
largest unions include provisions granting cost-of-living allowances linked to 
changes in the CPI. 

Item 8 – Financial statements and 
supplementary data 
Our audited Statements of Operations, Balance Sheets, Statements of 
Changes in Net Capital, and Statements of Cash Flows are included in the 
Financial Statements section of this report. 

Item 9 – Changes in and disagreements 
with accountants on accounting and 
fnancial disclosure 
None 
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Financial Section Part II 

Item 9A – Controls and procedures 
Management is responsible for the preparation, integrity, and fair presenta-
tion of the financial statements of the Postal Service. 

Disclosure Controls 
We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure 
that information required to be disclosed in our quarterly and annual reports 
is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time frames 
specified by  P.L.109-435, and that this information is accumulated and 
communicated to our management, including the Postmaster General and 
Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding 
required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls 
and procedures, we recognize that any controls and procedures, no matter 
how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of 
achieving the desired control objectives, and we were required to apply our 
judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and 
procedures. 

Internal Controls 
There have been no significant changes during the year covered by this 
report in our internal control over financial reporting or in other factors that 
could significantly affect the internal control over financial reporting. 

Item 9B – Other information 
We were not required to file reports on Form 8-K during the fourth quarter 
of the fiscal year ended September 30, 2007. 
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Financial Section Part III 

Item 10 – Directors and executive 
offcers and corporate governance 

Board of Governors 
James C. Miller III 
Chairman 

Alan C. Kessler 
Vice Chairman 

Mickey D. Barnett 
Member 

James H. Bilbray 
Member 

Carolyn Lewis Gallagher 
Member 

Louis J. Giuliano 
Member 

Thurgood Marshall, Jr. 
Member 

Katherine C. Tobin 
Member 

Ellen C. Williams 
Member 

John E. Potter 
Postmaster General and Chief Executive Officer 

Patrick R. Donahoe 
Deputy Postmaster General and Chief Operating Officer 

Executive Committee 
John E. Potter 
Postmaster General and Chief Executive Officer 

Patrick R. Donahoe 
Deputy Postmaster General and Chief Operating Officer 

Anita J. Bizzotto 
Chief Marketing Officer and Executive Vice President 

Mary Anne Gibbons 
Senior Vice President and General Counsel 

Linda A. Kingsley 
Senior Vice President, Strategy and Transition 

Anthony J. Vegliante 
Chief Human Resources Officer and Executive Vice President 

H. Glen Walker 
Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President 

Other Offcers 
Kathleen Ainsworth 
Vice President, Delivery and Retail 

nicholas F. Barranca 
Vice President, Product Development 

sylvester Black  
Vice President, Area Operations (Western) 

Megan J. Brennan  
Vice President, Area Operations (Eastern) 

susan M. Brownell  
Vice President, Supply Management 

Ellis A. Burgoyne  
Vice President, Area Operations (Southwest) 

William A. Campbell  
Judicial Officer 

Michael J. Daley  
Vice President, Area Operations (Pacific) 

Thomas G. Day 
Senior Vice President, Intelligent Mail and Address Quality 

Marie Therese Dominguez 
Vice President, Government Relations 

Jo Ann Feindt  
Vice President, Area Operations (Great Lakes) 

William P. Galligan  
Senior Vice President, Operations 

Deborah Giannoni-Jackson  
Vice President, Employee Resource Management 

Joanne B. Giordano 
Vice President, Public Affairs and Communications 

Timothy C. Haney 
Vice President, Area Operations (Northeast) 

Wendy A. Hocking 
Secretary of the Board of Governors 

stephen M. Kearney  
Vice President, Pricing and Classification 

Delores J. Killette  
Vice President, Consumer Advocate 

susan M. LaChance  
Vice President, Employee Development and Diversity 

Jerry D. Lane  
Vice President, Area Operations (Capital Metro) 
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Other Offcers (continued) 
Alexander Lazaroff 
Chief Postal Inspector 

Lynn Malcolm  
Vice President, Controller 

Walter F. o’Tormey  
Vice President, Engineering 

Anthony M. Pajunas  
Vice President, Network Operations 

Robert J. Pedersen  
Vice President, Treasurer 

susan M. Plonkey  
Vice President, Customer Service 

Tom A. samra  
Vice President, Facilities 

David L. solomon  
Vice President, Area Operations (New York Metro) 

Douglas A. Tulino  
Vice President, Labor Relations 

Paul E. Vogel  
Senior Vice President and Managing Director, Global Business 

Jerry W. Whalen  
Vice President, Sales 

Terry J. Wilson  
Vice President, Area Operations (Southeast) 

George W. Wright 
Vice President, Chief Technology Officer (acting) 

Code of Ethics 
The Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees of the Executive Branch 
at 5 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) §2635 apply to all Postal Service 
employees. The Standards were issued in 1993 by the U.S. Office of 
Government Ethics, and replaced the individual agency standards then 
applicable to all employees of the executive branch. Our employees are also 
covered by the Supplemental Standards of Ethical Conduct for Employees 
of the United States Postal Service at 5 CFR §7001. The Standards and 
Supplemental Standards are detailed and contain many examples to 
help employees recognize and resolve ethical issues. We give employees 
a summary of the standards, and other ethical conduct materials at 
initial employee orientation training and other times during the year. We 
also provide annual ethics training for all employees who file a financial 
disclosure report. To support our employees on ethical issues, we maintain 
a dedicated phone line and e-mail address for providing ethical advice. 

Item 11 – Executive compensation 
The Postal Service releases information concerning executive compensation 
to the extent required by the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 5 United 
States Code (U.S.C.) 552. Postal Service regulations implementing the FOIA 
are located at 39 CFR 265. 

Item 12 – Security ownership of certain 
benefcial owners and management 
related stockholder matters 
Not applicable to the United States Postal Service. As an “independent 
establishment of the executive branch of the Government of the United 
States,” we do not issue equity securities. 

Item 13 – Certain relationships and 
related transactions 
We enter into significant transactions with other government agencies, as 
disclosed throughout these financial statements. 

Item 14 – Principal accountant fees and 
services 
In 2002, the Board of Governors selected Ernst & Young LLP as its 
independent auditor to perform external auditing services. The competitively 
awarded five-year contract, with an option of renewal of up to 36 months, 
had an estimated value of $11.7 million covering the financial statement 
audits for fiscal years 2003 - 2007. The enactment of P.L.109-435 
expands the scope in work requirements of these audit services; however, 
we are unable to quantify the estimated additional contract value at this 
time. As with previous contracts for external audit services, Ernst & Young 
LLP will not perform consulting work for us for the duration of the contract. 
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Since 1998, the Postal Service has raised more than 

$57 million for breast cancer research through the 

sale of this semipostal stamp. 
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG 

Board or Governors 
United SflllCS Posflll Service 

• fmi:t &-Young LL' 
U4U4 We,r1mk Drive 
M( LL','tr'I, V,\ 121 Ol 

Kcport of tndc11cndcn1 AudHors 

• l'hnnc: 1703) 7<17 l!MMJ 
+,\'\\ W.cy.-q •'11 

We hove audited 1ho accompanying b.1lance sheets ,,f 1hc Unilcd Sillies Postal Service as of September 30, 2007 and 
2006. and the related s1a1ements of operations, cha11ges in nel capi1ol and cash nows for each of the three years in the 
period en.ded Seplember 30, 2007. These financial statement\! nre the responsibility of the United States Postal 
Service's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with audiriag standards generally accepled in the United Slates and the 
stnndards applicable 10 financial audits con111incd in Govemmem A11dili11g Sltmd(lrds, issued by the Comptroller 
General of the. United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonaole assurance 
obout whetl1cr the financial statements arc free or material misstatement We were not engaged 10 perfonn an audit of 
the Unin:d States Postal Service's internal control over financial reporting. Our audils included consideration of 
iniernal control over financial reporting as a basis for desig11ing uudii procedures that are appropriate m the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of express1ng an opinion on the effecliveness of the Uniled States Postal 
Service's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly. we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
examining, on a lest basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements . .assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evalunting the overoll financinl 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits µrovide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion. the financial statements reti:rred 10 above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the United States Postal Service as of Sept.ember 30, 2007 an~ 2006, und the results or its operations and its cash flows 
for each of the three years in the period ended September 30. 2007 in confonnity with U.S. generally accepted 
accounting principle.~. 

In accorclanc" wi(II Oo.,em111e111 Auditing S1a11dart/.•. we have also issued our ropon dated Nowmbur 14, 2007, on our 
consideration of the United States Postal Service's 1nternal control over financial reponing nnd on our tests of its 
compliance wilh certain ])rovisions of' laws, regulations, and contracts and othL'r mnuers. The purpose of that report is 
to describe rhe scope of our testing of iaternol control over financial reporting and compliance a.nd the results of that 
testing. and 1101 ro provide an opinion on the internal control ove, financial reporting or on compliance, That repo1i is 
an integral part of an audit performed tn accordance wilh Governme111 Auditing Standards and should be considered in 
assessing 1he results of our audit 

McL"3tl, VA 
November 14. 2007 



  

       

     

   

 

   

Statements of Operations 

Years Ended September 30, 

2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

Operating revenue $ 74,778 $ 72,650 $ 69,907 

Operating expenses: 

Compensation and benefits 54,186 54,665 52,449 

Retiree health benefits 10,084 1,637 1,495 

Transportation 6,502 6,045 5,437 

Other 9,333 9,334 8,900 

Total operating expenses 80,105 71,681 68,281 

(Loss) Income from operations (5,327) 969 1,626 

Interest and investment income 195 167 86 

Interest expense on deferred retirement obligations - (231) (263) 

Other interest expense (10) (5) (4) 

Net (Loss) Income $ (5,142) $ 900 $ 1,445 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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Balance Sheets - Assets 

September 30, 

2007 2006 

(Dollars in millions) 

Assets 

Current Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 899 $ 997 

Receivables: 

Foreign countries 425 527 

U.S. government 155 150 

Other 223 210 

Receivables before allowances 803 887 

Less allowances 44 48 

Total receivables, net 759 839 

Supplies, advances and prepayments 201 205 

Total Current Assets 1,859 2,041 

Cash - Restricted - 2,958 

Appropriations Receivable - Revenue Forgone 392 394 

Property and Equipment, at Cost: 

Buildings 21,591 21,083 

Equipment 21,060 19,729 

Land 2,914 2,887 

Leasehold improvements 842 1,232 

46,407 44,931 

Less allowances for depreciation and amortization 24,688 23,951 

21,719 20,980 

Construction in progress 1,877 2,115 

Total Property and Equipment, Net 23,596 23,095 

Total Assets $ 25,847 $ 28,488 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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Balance Sheets - Liabilities and Net Capital 

September 30, 

2007 2006 

(Dollars in millions) 

Liabilities and Net Capital 

Current Liabilities: 

Compensation and benefits $ 3,571 $ 3,224 

Payables and accrued expenses: 

Trade payables and accrued expenses 1,523 1,481 

Foreign countries 452 567 

U.S. government 111 111 

Total payables and accrued expenses 2,086 2,159 

Customer deposit accounts 1,499 1,647 

Deferred revenue-prepaid postage 1,142 1,187 

Outstanding postal money orders 847 885 

Prepaid box rent and other deferred revenue 434 411 

Debt 4,200 2,100 

Total Current Liabilities 13,779 11,613 

Noncurrent Liabilities: 

Workers’ compensation costs 6,800 6,869 

Employees’ accumulated leave 2,129 2,116 

Deferred appropriation and other revenue 591 674 

Long-term portion capital lease obligations 618 637 

Deferred gains on sales of property 341 123 

Contingent liabilities and other 455 180 

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 10,934 10,599 

Total Liabilities 24,713 22,212 

Net Capital 

Capital contributions of the U.S. government 3,034 3,034 

Retained (deficit) earnings since reorganization (1,900) 3,242 

Total Net Capital 1,134 6,276 

Total Liabilities and Net Capital $ 25,847 $ 28,488 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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Statements of Changes in Net Capital 

Years ended September 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 

Capital 
Contributions of 

U.S. Government 

Retained Earnings 
(Deficit) Since 

Reorganization Total Net Capital 

(Dollars in millions) 

Balance, September 30, 2004 $ 3,034 $ 897 $ 3,931 

Net Income - 1,445 1,445 

Balance, September 30, 2005 3,034 2,342 5,376 

Net Income - 900 900 

Balance, September 30, 2006 3,034 3,242 6,276 

Net (Loss) - (5,142) (5,142) 

Balance, September 30, 2007 $ 3,034 $ (1,900) $ 1,134 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 
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Statements of Cash Flows 

Years Ended September 30, 

2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

Cash flows from operating activities: 

Net (Loss) Income 

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash 

provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 

Loss (gain) on disposals of property and equipment, net 

Decrease (increase) in appropriations receivable revenue forgone 

(Decrease) increase in workers’ compensation liability 

Increase in employees’ accumulated leave 

(Increase) decrease in noncurrent deferred appropriations and other revenue 

Increase (decrease) in other noncurrent liabilities 

Changes in current assets and liabilities: 

Receivables, net 

Supplies, advances and prepayments 

Compensation and benefits 

Deferred revenue-prepaid postage 

Payables and accrued expenses 

Customer deposit accounts 

Outstanding postal money orders 

Prepaid box rent and other deferred revenue 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities: 

Decrease (increase) in restricted cash 

Purchase of property and equipment 

Proceeds from building sale 

Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities: 

Issuance of debt 

Payments on debt 

Payments for Issuance of capital lease obligations, net 

U.S. government appropriations - received 

U.S. government appropriations - expensed 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 

$ 

$ 

(5,142) 

2,152 

23 

2 

(69) 

13 

(7) 

275 

80 

4 

347 

(45) 

(73) 

(148) 

(38) 

23 

(2,603) 

2,958 

(2,715) 

218 

39 

500 

4,200 

(2,100) 

(19) 

-

(76) 

2,005 

(98) 

997 

899 

$ 900 $ 1,445 

2,149 2,089 

(40) 5 

(18) (15) 

342 (58) 

100 10 

21 (56) 

(66) (12) 

169 16 

(5) 20 

204 314 

(13) (56) 

63 (203) 

(73) 114 

55 63 

(20) 54 

3,768 3,730 

(2,958) -

(2,630) (2,317) 

- -

114 31 

(5,474) (2,286) 

2,100 -

- (1,800) 

(37) 16 

- 503 

(85) (45) 

1,978 (1,326) 

272 118 

725 607 

$ 997 $ 725 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

Note 1 – Description of business 

Nature of Operations 
The United States Postal Service (we) provides a variety of classes of 
mail service to the public, without undue discrimination among our many 
customers. This means that within each class of mail our price does not 
unreasonably vary by customer for the levels of service we provide. This 
fulfills our legal mandate to offer universal service at a fair price. We 
conduct our operations primarily in the domestic market, with international 
operations representing less than 3% of our total revenue. 

Our primary lines of service are First-Class Mail and Standard Mail, which 
account for about 94% of our volume. Priority Mail, International Mail, 
Express Mail, Periodicals and Package Services are other significant 
services we provide. The principal markets for these services are the 
communications, distribution, delivery, advertising, and retail markets. Our 
services are sold and distributed through almost 37,000 Post Offices, sta-
tions, branches, contract postal units, and a large network of consignees. 

Our labor force is primarily represented by the American Postal Workers 
Union (APWU), National Association of Letter Carriers (NALC) National 
Postal Mail Handlers Union (NPMHU) and National Rural Letter Carriers 
Association (NRLCA). More than 85% of our career employees are covered 
by collective bargaining agreements. 

By law, we also consult with management organizations representing most 
of the employees not covered by collective bargaining agreements. These 
consultations provide an opportunity to participate directly in the planning, 
development, and implementation of programs and policies affecting the 
managerial employees in the field. 

Postal Reorganization 
We commenced operations on July 1, 1971, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Postal Reorganization Act. We are an “independent 
establishment of the executive branch of the Government of the United 
States.” Governing decisions are made by a Board of Governors, nine of 
eleven of whom are appointed by the President with the advice and consent 
of the Senate. 

The equity that the U.S. government held in the former Post Office 
Department became our initial capital. We valued the assets of the former 
Post Office Department at original cost less accumulated depreciation. 
The initial transfer of assets, including property, equipment and cash, 
totaled $1.7 billion. Subsequent cash contributions and transfers of assets 
between 1972 and 1982 totaled approximately $1.3 billion, resulting in total 
government contributions of $3.034 billion. The U.S. government remains 
responsible for all of the liabilities attributable to operations of the former 
Post Office Department. However, under the Balanced Budget Act of 1997, 
the liability for Post Office Department workers’ compensation costs was 
transferred to us. 

The Postal Accountability and Enhancement Act (P.L.109-435), enacted 
December 20, 2006, made significant reforms in the governance of the 
Postal Service and significantly altered some of our financial responsibili-
ties, particularly in respect to the funding of Civil Service Retirement 
System (CSRS) benefits and retiree health benefits. See Note 4, Postal 
Accountability and Enhancement Act, Public Law 109-435 ( P.L.109-435), 
in the Notes to the Financial Statements for additional information. 

We enter into significant transactions with other U.S. government agencies, 
as disclosed throughout these financial statements. 

Note 2 – Summary of signifcant 
accounting policies 

Basis of Accounting and Use of Estimates 
We conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States. We maintain our accounting records and prepare our financial 
statements on the accrual basis of accounting. Following these principles, 
we make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts we report 
in the Financial Statements and Notes. Actual results may differ from our 
estimates. 

Segment Information 
We operate in one segment throughout the United States, its possessions, 
territories and internationally. 

Reclassifcations 
Certain comparative prior year amounts that we have determined are 
immaterial to the Financial Statements and accompanying Notes have been 
reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. These reclas-
sifications had no effect on previously reported operating income and net 
income. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
We consider securities that mature within 90 days or less from the date that 
we buy them to be cash equivalents. 

Cash - Restricted 
In 2006 we established a restricted cash account in conformity with provi-
sions set forth in P.L.108-18 to set aside “savings”. See Note 10, Retirement 
programs, in the Notes to the Financial Statements for additional informa-
tion. Restricted cash was reported as a noncurrent asset. With the passage 
of P.L.109-435, the balance we held in restricted cash was to be paid into 
the new Postal Service Retiree Health Benefit Fund (PSRHBF). The $2,958 
million balance reported as of September 30, 2006 was transferred to the 
PSRHBF on April 6, 2007. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
We provide an allowance for doubtful accounts on our outstanding 
receivables based on our collection history and an estimate of uncollectible 
accounts. 

Supplies and Repair Parts 
Our supplies and repair parts consist of repair parts for mail processing 
equipment. We value these at average cost. Total supplies and repair 
parts amounted to $119 million at the end of 2007 and $125 million at the 
end of 2006. A majority of our motor vehicle spare parts are supplied on 
consignment through agreements with our vendors. 

Property and Equipment 
We record property and equipment at cost, including the interest we 
pay on the money we borrow to pay for the construction of major capital 
additions. See Note 6, Property and equipment, in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements for additional information. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

We depreciate buildings and equipment over their estimated useful lives, 
which range from 3 to 40 years, except buildings with historic status, which 
are depreciated over 75 years, using the straight-line method. 

Impaired Assets 
We record losses on long-lived assets when events and circumstances 
indicate that the assets might be impaired. In accordance with Financial 
Accounting Standards Board Statement 144, Accounting for the Impairment 
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, we write down our impaired assets to 
the lower of cost or fair value. See Note 6, Property and equipment, in the 
Notes to the Financial Statements for additional information. 

Asset Retirement Obligations 
We account for our asset retirement obligations in accordance with 
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation 47, Accounting for 
Conditional Asset Removal (FIN 47). Under the provisions of FIN 47, we 
have accrued $40 million as of September 30, 2007, and $25 million as 
of September 30, 2006, in asset retirement obligations under “Noncurrent 
Liabilities, Contingent liabilities and other” on our balance sheet. 

Amortization of Leasehold Improvements 
We amortize leasehold improvements over the period of the lease or the 
useful life of the improvement, whichever is shorter. 

Leasehold improvements that are placed in service significantly after the 
start of the lease term are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of 
the asset or the lease term, including expected renewal options. 

Foreign Currency Translation 
We have foreign currency risk related to settlements with foreign postal 
administrations for international mail. The majority of our international 
accounts are denominated in special drawing rights (SDRs). The SDR 
exchange rate fluctuates daily based on a basket of currencies comprised 
of the euro, Japanese yen, pound sterling, and the U.S. dollar. Changes in 
the relative value of these currencies will increase or decrease the value 
of our settlement accounts and result in a gain or loss from revaluation 
reported in the results from operations. The actual currency used to settle 
accounts varies by country. The impacts on our financial statements from 
foreign currency fluctuations were insignificant for 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Outstanding Postal Money Orders 
We sell money orders to the general public at our retail locations. We 
charge a fee to the customer at the time of sale. The fee is recognized as 
revenue at the time of sale. We recognize a liability for money orders we 
expect to be presented for payment. 

Revenue Recognition/Deferred Revenue-Prepaid 
Postage 
We recognize revenue when service is rendered. Deferred revenue-prepaid 
postage is our estimate of the amount of cash we have collected by the end 
of the year for services that we will perform in a future year. 

Advertising Expenses 
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and are classified in other 
operating expenses. Advertising expenses were $121 million in 2007, $138 
million in 2006 and $143 million in 2005. 

Compensation and Benefts Payable 
These are the salaries and benefits we owe to current and retired 
employees, including the amounts employees have earned but have not 
yet been paid, current workers’ compensation, unemployment costs, and 
health benefits. 

Workers’ Compensation 
We pay for workers’ compensation costs under a program administered by 
the Department of Labor (DOL). These costs include employees’ medical 
expenses, payments for continuation of wages, and DOL administrative 
fees. We record these costs as an operating expense. See Note 11, 
Workers compensation, in the Notes to the Financial Statements for 
additional information. 

Retiree Benefts 
In accordance with our parent-subsidiary type relationship with the federal 
government, our employees are eligible to participate in the federal govern-
ment retirement programs, including pension and retiree health benefits. 
We are required to provide funding for those plans as determined by the 
administrator of the plan, the Office of Personnel Management (OPM). 
We cannot direct the costs, benefits, or funding requirements of these 
federally-sponsored plans. We account for our participation in these plans 
using multiemployer plan accounting rules in accordance with Financial 
Accounting Standards Board Statement (FAS) 87, Employers Accounting 
for Pension Costs and FAS 106 Employers Accounting for Postretirement 
Benefits Other than Pensions. We account for the cost of our employees’ 
participation in these programs as an expense in the period our contribution 
is due and payable. As more fully described in Note 4, Postal Accountability 
and Enhancement Act, Public Law 109-435 ( P.L.109-435), significantly 
impacted our 2007 costs associated with these programs. See also Note 9, 
Health benefit programs, and Note 10, Retirement programs, in the Notes to 
the Financial Statements for additional information. 

Revenue Forgone Appropriation 
Revenue Forgone is an appropriation from Congress, which covers our cost 
of providing free and reduced rate mailing service to groups designated 
by Congress. The amount of expense estimated by the Postal Service is 
submitted to Congress annually. Congress subsequently approves or alters 
the amount and funds the necessary appropriation. See Note 12, Revenue 
forgone, in the Notes to the Financial Statements for additional information. 

Emergency Preparedness Appropriation 
Emergency preparedness appropriations are funds we received from 
the federal government to help pay the costs of keeping the mail, postal 
employees and postal customers safe and are restricted for such use. 
These funds were accounted for as deferred revenue upon receipt and 
were largely utilized to procure capital equipment. We recognize revenue 
for emergency preparedness appropriations at the same time we recognize 
depreciation expense for capital equipment purchased with these appro-
priations. The emergency preparedness appropriations revenue recognized 
during the years ended September 30 were $76 million in 2007, $85 
million in 2006, and $45 million in 2005. 
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Appropriations that have not been recognized as revenue during the years 
ended September 30 were $611 million in 2007, $687 million in 2006 
and $772 million in 2005. The current portion is included in prepaid box 
rent and other deferred revenue, and the long-term portion is in deferred 
appropriations and other revenue on our balance sheets. 

Note 3 – Recent pronouncements 
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS 157, which defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures 
about fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS 157 are effective 
as of the beginning of our 2009 fiscal year. We are currently evaluating the 
impact of adopting SFAS 157 on our financial statements. 

Note 4 – Postal Accountability and 
Enhancement Act, Public Law 109-435  
(P.L.109-435) 
P.L.109-435, enacted December 20, 2006, made significant reforms in
the governance of the Postal Service and significantly altered some of our
financial responsibilities, particularly in respect to the funding of CSRS
benefits and retiree health benefits. The legislation does not change our
parent-subsidiary type relationship as an “independent establishment of the
executive branch of the Government of the United States.” Our employees
and retirees continue to participate in all federally-sponsored retirement and
health benefit plans. Therefore we continue to account for our participa-
tion in U.S. government sponsored health benefit and retirement plans
using multiemployer plan accounting rules in accordance with FAS 106,
Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions and
FAS 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.

A number of major provisions of P.L.109-435 directly impact our financial 
statements and are discussed below. For a complete understanding of the 
new law, one must consult the full text, which can be found at  
www.thomas.gov. 

P.L.109-435 returned to the U.S. Treasury the obligation to fund the
portion of the CSRS retirement benefit earned while serving in the military
by participants who retire as postal employees. This funding obligation,
originally estimated by the OPM in 2003 at $27 billion, was transferred
from the U.S. Treasury to us in 2003 with the enactment of Public Law
108-18 (P.L.108-18). With the return of this funding requirement to the
U.S. Treasury, it has been estimated by OPM that we have fully funded
our CSRS pension obligation as of September 30, 2006. Recognizing this,
the law suspends our employer contribution to CSRS that would otherwise
be required under Title 5, Section 8334(a) (1), of the United States Code
until 2017. At that time, OPM will determine whether additional funding is
required to pay the benefits of postal retirees. This provision was effective
October 14, 2006. See Note 10, Retirement programs, in the Notes to the
Financial Statements for more information on our retirement obligations.

Under  P.L.109-435, OPM was required by June 15, 2007 to determine the 
CSRS surplus or “supplemental liability” attributable to Postal employees as 
of September 30, 2006. OPM determined that this CSRS surplus was $17.1 
billion as of September 30, 2006. The surplus amount was transferred 

to the newly created PSRHBF, which is held by the U.S. Treasury and 
controlled by OPM, on June 29, 2007. 

The PSRHBF will be used, commencing in 2017, to pay our share of the 
health insurance premiums for our current and future Postal Service retir-
ees. Beginning in 2007, P.L.109-435 requires us to make annual payments 
into the PSRHBF. The payment schedule in the law requires us to pay, on 
average, $5.6 billion per year into the fund for ten years, which began in 
2007. This is in addition to our regularly allocated cost of premiums for 
current retirees, which will continue to be payable through 2016. After 
these annual payments are complete, OPM will make an actuarial valuation 
and determine whether any further payments into the PSRHBF are required. 
In 2007 we paid into the PSRHBF and expensed $5.4 billion. 

P.L.109-435 repealed the escrow provisions of P.L.108-18, which required us
to place into an escrow account by September 2006, any “savings” from the
change in the retirement provisions created by P.L.108-18. OPM calculated
the savings at $2,958 million as of September 30, 2006. These escrowed
funds were shown as restricted cash on our September 30, 2006 balance
sheet. P.L.109-435 required that we pay the 2006 escrowed “savings” to the
PSRHBF. In 2007 we expensed the entire amount payable to the PSRHBF. On
April 6, 2007, these “savings” were transferred to the PSRHBF.

The following table summarizes the impacts of the new legislation on our 
statement of operations for 2007. 

P.L.109 435 Comparison

Prior to 
Public Law 

109-435
P.L.109-435

Impact 

After 
Public Law 

109-435

(Dollars in millions) 

Line on Statement of Operations: 

Compensation and benefits 

Retiree health benefits 

$ 55,537 

1,726 

$ (1,351) 

8,358 

$ 54,186 

10,084 

Total 57,263 7,007 64,270 

Deferred Interest on CSRS 
Supplemental Liability 

Net Income (Loss) $ 

231 

1,634 $ 

(231) 

(6,776) $ 

-

(5,142) 

Impact on Compensation and Benefits and Retiree Health Benefits 
Expense 

Discontinuance of CSRS employer contributions $ (1,325) 

Repeal of 2007 “Supplemental Liability” 
principal (26) 

Impact on compensation and benefits 
expense $ (1,351) 

PSRHBF annual expense $ 5,400 

PSRHBF expense (escrow transfer) 2,958 

Impact on retiree health benefits expense $ 8,358 
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Note 5 – Debt and related interest 

Borrowing Limits and Debt 
Under the Postal Reorganization Act, as amended by Public Laws 101-227 
and 109-435, we can issue and sell debt obligations. However, at year-end 
we are limited to net annual increases of $3 billion in our debt and our total 
debt cannot exceed $15 billion. 

Debt Consists of the Following: 

Interest 
Rate % 

Terms * 2007 2006 

(Dollars in millions) 

NOTES PAYABLE TO THE FEDERAL FINANCING 
BANK (FFB): 

Short-term revolving credit facility; 
3.366%** Payable October 1, 2007 $ 2,900 $ 1,900 

Overnight revolving credit note; 
3.528%*** Payable October 1, 2007 300 200 

3.101% Payable November 15, 2007 500 -

3.866% Payable December 20, 2007 500 -

$ 4,200 $ 2,100 

* All debt is repurchasable at any time at a price determined by the Secretary of the Treasury, 
based on rates prevailing in the Treasury Security market at the time of repricing. 

** Prior year rate was 4.714% 

*** Prior year rate was 4.701% 

The current value of our debt is what it would cost to pay off the debt if we 
used the current yield on equivalent U.S. Treasury notes. At year-end, the 
current estimated value of our debt is $4.2 billion. 

Note Purchase Agreements 
Our note purchase agreements with the Federal Financing Bank provide for 
revolving credit lines of $4 billion. These credit lines enable us to draw up 
to $3.4 billion with two days’ notice, and up to $600 million on the same 
business day the funds are needed. Under these agreements we can also 
use a series of other notes with varying provisions to draw upon with two 
days’ notice. The notes provide us the flexibility to borrow short-term or 
long-term, using fixed or floating rate debt, and can be either callable or 
non-callable. 

Interest Payments on Retirement 
There were no cash outlays for interest on the retirement “supplemental 
liability” in 2007 because of the enactment of  P.L.109-435. In 2006, the 
cash outlay was $231 million and $263 million in 2005. See Note 10, 
Retirement programs, in the Notes to the Financial Statements for additional 
information. 

Other Interest Payments 
Cash outlays for other interest were $9 million in 2007, $4 million in 2006 
and $3 million in 2005. 

Note 6 – Property and equipment 

Sale of Major Facility 
On March 30, 2007, we sold the James A. Farley building in New York City 
to the Empire State Development Corporation (ESDC) for $190 million and 
additional proceeds of up to $55 million, contingent upon the achieve-
ment of certain development and leasing criteria by the developer of the 
property. This building formerly housed retail, carrier, and mail processing 
operations. Mail processing operations formerly housed in this facility had 
been transferred to other facilities in 2004. The Postal Service continues 
to conduct retail and carrier operations at this facility under the terms of an 
interim lease with annual rentals of $5.6 million per year. Once the carrier 
operations are relocated to other facilities, we will continue to conduct retail 
and some administrative functions in a smaller portion of the building under 
a 99-year lease, with a rental fee of $1. The Postal Service has an option 
to require the building owner to change the legal structure of the building 
ownership into condominium units, with the Postal Service being given the 
right to purchase the space subject to the 99-year lease. 

We have accounted for the transaction under the deposit method under 
the provisions of FAS 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate. The gain will 
not be recognized and the asset will not be removed from our accounting 
records until the lease and other continuing involvement in the building have 
expired. If the condominiumization of the building is legally completed prior 
to that time, and the contingent payments are satisfied, or we completely 
move out of the facility, then the gain could be recognized earlier. 

Additionally, from the funds ESDC paid us, $10 million was set aside for an 
environmental clean-up fund. Our environmental liability is limited to $10 
million and is included on our balance sheet under trade payables and other 
accrued expenses. 

Interest Capitalization 
No interest was capitalized in 2007, 2006 or 2005. 

Repairs and Maintenance 
Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. This expense 
amounted to $956 million in 2007, $933 million in 2006, and $809 million 
in 2005. 
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Note 7 – Leases and other commitments 

Capital 
At September 30, 2007 our future minimum lease payments for all 
noncancelable leases are as follows. 

Lease Obligations Operating Capital 

(Dollars in millions) 

2008 $ 760 $ 102 

2009 746 100 

2010 704 97 

2011 643 95 

2012 576 97 

After 2012 4,987 587 

Total Lease Obligations $ 8,416 $ 1,078 

Less: Interest 416 

Total Capital Lease Obligations $ 662 

Less: Short-term portion of capital lease obligations 44 

Long-term Portion of Capital Lease Obligations $ 618 

Most of these leases contain renewal options for periods ranging from 3 
to 20 years. Certain noncancelable real estate leases give us the option to 
purchase the facilities at prices specified in the leases. 

Capital leases included in buildings were $931 million in 2007 and $891 
million in 2006. Total accumulated amortization is $404 million in 2007 
and $350 million in 2006. Amortization expense for assets recorded under 
capital leases is recorded as depreciation expense, which is included in 
other operating expenses in the statements of operations. 

Our total rental expense for the years ended September 30 is summarized 
as follows. 

Rental Expense 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

Non-cancelable real estate leases 
including related taxes 

Facilities leased from GSA 
subject to 120-day cancellation 

Equipment and other short-term 
rentals 

$ 927 

46 

261 

$ 953 

49 

192 

$ 892 

42 

209 

Total Rental Expense $ 1,234 $ 1,194 $ 1,143 

At September 30, 2007, we estimate our financial commitment for 
approved capital projects in progress (resources on order) to be $2,694 
million, detailed in the following table. 

Capital Resources on Order 2007 

(Dollars in millions) 

Mail Processing Equipment $ 1,565 

Building Improvements 513 

Postal Support Equipment 338 

Construction and Building Purchase 200 

Vehicles 40 

Retail Equipment 38 

Total Capital Resources on Order $ 2,694 

Expense Commitments 
In the normal operations of our business we enter into commitments for 
expense contracts. The contracts run for periods from one to ten years. 
Although these contracts contain clauses for termination by the Postal 
Service, we normally would have early termination costs. 

Expense commitments are classified as miscellaneous, inventory, and 
research and development. Our miscellaneous expense commitments 
include contracts for supplies, services, communications, repairs, research, 
printing and advertising. Our inventory contracts are for vehicle repair parts 
and mechanized equipment spare parts. These are summarized in the 
following table. 

Expense Resources on Order 2007 

(Dollars in millions) 

Miscellaneous Contracts $ 5,231 

Inventory Contracts 76 

Research and Development Contracts 48 

Total Expense Resources on Order $ 5,355 
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In addition,  P.L.109-435 mandates annual payments into the PSRHBF. 
These payments are listed in the following table. 

Retiree Health Benefits Commitments 
P.L.109-435 

Requirement 

(Dollars in millions) 

2008 $ 5,600 

2009 5,400 

2010 5,500 

2011 5,500 

2012 5,600 

After 2012 22,800 

Total Retiree Health Benefits Commitments $ 50,400 

Note 8 – Contingent liabilities 
Our contingent liabilities consist mainly of claims and suits resulting from 
labor issues, equal employment opportunity issues, environmental issues, 
property damage claims, injuries on postal properties, issues arising from 
postal contracts, personal claims, and traffic accidents. 

Each quarter we review significant new claims and litigation for the 
probability of an adverse outcome. If a claim is deemed “probable” for an 
unfavorable outcome and the amount of settlement is estimable, we record 
a liability. Each quarter we also review and adjust any prior contingencies 
for settlements, or revisions to prior estimates. No individual claim is 
material to our financial statements when taken as a whole. The following 
table summarizes our contingent liabilities provided for in the financial 
statements. 

Contingent Liabilities 2007 2006 

(Dollars in millions) 

Labor Cases $ 526 $ 254 

Equal Employment Opportunity Cases 57 66 

Tort Cases 39 57 

Environmental 40 25 

Contractual Cases 14 16 

Total Contingent Liabilities $ 676 $ 418 

We believe that adequate provision has been made for the probable  
liabilities from claims and suits. The current portion of this liability at 
September 30, 2007 of $248 million is included on the balance sheet 
under the heading “Trade payables and accrued expenses”. On September 
30, 2006 this amount was $267 million. The long-term portion at 
September 30, 2007 of $428 million is accrued under the heading,  

“Noncurrent Liabilities: Contingent liabilities and other” in our balance 
sheet. On September 30, 2006 the long-term liability was $151 million. 

We also have other claims and suits that we deem reasonably possible of 
unfavorable outcomes and for which we cannot yet determine the amounts 
or a reasonable range of potential losses, if any. No provisions for these are 
included in our financial statements. 

Note 9 – Health beneft programs 

Current Employees 
Substantially all of our employees are covered by the Federal Employees’ 
Health Benefits Program (FEHBP). OPM administers the program and 
allocates the cost of the program to the various participating government 
agency employers. We cannot direct the costs, benefits, or funding 
requirements of the federally-sponsored plan and therefore account for 
these costs using multiemployer plan accounting rules. 

Our portion of the cost is based upon the weighted average premium 
cost of the various employee coverage choices and the specific coverage 
choices made by our employees. Our employees paid approximately 17% 
of the premium costs in 2007, 2006 and 2005. We paid the remainder of 
employee health care expense, which was $5,401 million in 2007, $5,345 
million in 2006, and $5,100 million in 2005. 

Retirees 
Our employees who participate in the FEHBP for at least the five years 
immediately before their retirement may participate in the FEHBP during 
their retirement. The Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1990 requires 
us to pay the employer’s share of health insurance premiums for all retired 
postal employees and their survivors who participate in the FEHBP and 
who retire on or after July 1, 1971. However, we do not include the costs 
attributable to federal civil service before that date. 

As discussed in Note 4, Postal Accountability and Enhancement Act, 
Public Law 109-435 ( P.L.109-435), resulted in our retiree health benefit 
expenses increasing dramatically, to $10,084 million in 2007, compared 
to $1,637 million in 2006 and $1,495 million in 2005. These costs are 
reflected as Retiree health benefits in our Statements of Operations. 

Note 10 – Retirement programs 

Pension Programs 
Our employees participate in one of the following pension programs based 
upon the starting date of their employment with the federal government. 
Employee and employer contributions are made to the Civil Service 
Retirement System (CSRS), the Dual Civil Service Retirement System/ 
Social Security (Dual CSRS), or the Federal Employees Retirement 
System (FERS), all of which are administered by the Office of Personnel 
Management. Employees may also participate in the Thrift Savings Plan 
(TSP), which is a defined contribution retirement savings and investment 
plan. Postal Service employees are authorized to participate in the TSP 
by the Federal Employees Retirement System Act of 1986. The TSP is 
administered by the Federal Retirement Thrift Investment Board. 
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CsRs 
Under the Postal Reorganization Act, officers and career employees hired 
prior to January 1, 1984 are covered by the Civil Service Retirement 
System, which provides a basic annuity toward which we and the employee 
contribute at rates prescribed by law. Effective October 14, 2006, 
P.L.109-435 suspends the obligation of making employer contributions 
for CSRS employees’ retirement. We do not match TSP contributions for 
employees who participate in CSRS. In addition, employees hired before 
January 1, 1984, could choose during certain periods in 1987, 1988 and 
1998 to switch their participation to FERS. 

DuAL CsRs 
Employees with prior U.S. government service who were hired between 
January 1, 1984, and January 1, 1987, are covered by Dual CSRS, which 
consists of a basic annuity and Social Security. We and the employee 
contribute to Social Security and the basic annuity at rates prescribed by 
law. We do not match TSP contributions for employees who participate in 
Dual CSRS. 

FERs 
Effective January 1, 1987, officers and career employees hired since 
December 31, 1983 are covered by the Federal Employees Retirement 
System Act of 1986, except for those covered by Dual CSRS. Also included 
are employees formerly covered by CSRS who elected in 1987, 1988 and 
1998 to participate in FERS. 

This system consists of Social Security, a basic annuity plan, and TSP. We 
and the employee contribute to Social Security and the basic annuity plan 
at the rate prescribed by law. In addition, we are required to contribute to 
TSP a minimum of 1% per year of the basic pay of employees covered by 
this system. We also match a voluntary employee contribution up to 3% of 
the employee’s basic pay, and 50% of a contribution between 3% and 5% 
of basic pay. 

Employee / Employer Contributions 
Employer and employee base contributions, as a percentage of employee 
basic pay, are as follows for each of the three plans for 2007, 2006, and 
2005. 

Retirement Contribution 2007 2006 2005 

(Percentage) 

CSRS Employer - 17.4 17.4 

CSRS Employee 7.0 7.0 7.0 

Dual CSRS Employer - 18.0 18.0 

Dual CSRS Employee 0.8 0.8 0.8 

FERS Employer 11.2 11.2 11.2 

FERS Employee 0.8 0.8 0.8 

The number of employees enrolled in each of the retirement plans at the 
end of 2007, 2006, and 2005 is as follows. 

Retirement Enrollment by 
Program 2007 2006 2005 

(Actual numbers) 

CSRS 144,034 157,945 171,958 

Dual CSRS 7,716 8,150 8,640 

FERS 533,012 530,043 524,118 

Expense Components 
The following table lists the components of our total retirement expenses 
that are included in compensation and benefits expense and related interest 
expense in the Statements of Operations for 2007, 2006 and 2005. 

Retirement Expense 2007 2006 2005 

(Dollars in millions) 

CSRS $ 52 $ 1,450 $ 1,533 

FERS 2,771 2,652 2,510 

FERS Thrift Savings Plan 1,007 960 912 

Dual CSRS 3 75 78 

Social Security 1,904 1,843 1,750 

CSRS “Supplemental Liability” 0 26 27 

Total Retirement Expense $ 5,737 $ 7,006 $ 6,810 

Employer cash contributions to retirement plans were $3,889 million in 
2007, $5,122 million in 2006, and $5,014 million in 2005. These amounts 
do not include Social Security contributions and interest expense on 
deferred retirement liabilities. 

P.L.109-435 relieved the Postal Service of the obligation to pay for the 
portion of the CSRS pension costs attributable to the military service of 
its retirees that was previously imposed by P.L.108-18. The cost of these 
benefits was estimated by OPM to be $27 billion in 2003. The elimination 
of the military service funding requirement dramatically impacted the 
funded status of the portion of the CSRS allocated to the Postal Service. 
P.L.109-435 directed OPM to determine the funded status of the CSRS, 
without the military benefits, on September 30, 2006 by June 15, 2007. 
OPM determined that, as a result of the changes imposed by  P.L.109-435, 
the Postal Service portion of the CSRS had a surplus of $17.1 billion. 
Accordingly, the “supplemental liability” payment required by P.L.108-18 
was suspended and no amount was incurred or paid in 2007. 

Beginning in 2004, we had been required by P.L.108-18 to pay an 
additional annual amount into the CSRS retirement plan, if necessary, each 
September, as determined by OPM. The “supplemental liability” represented 
the excess of the actuarial present value of the future benefits liability over 
the actuarial present value of plan assets, future contributions, earnings, 
and other actuarial factors related to postal participants in the CSRS plan. 
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The following table presents OPM’s estimate of the present value of our 
CSRS “supplemental liability” as of September 30, 2006 and 2005. This 
calculation assumed general salary increases of 2.8%, COLAs of 3.25%, 
and interest of 6.25% and was intended to provide for the liquidation of 
the “supplemental liability” over a 38-year period ending in September 30, 
2043. 

Present Value Analysis of CSRS 
“Supplemental Liability” 2006 2005 

(Dollars in billions as of September 30) 

Present Value of Benefits $ 193.7 $ 196.9 

Present Value of Contributions * 3.2 12.3 

Current Fund Balance ** 207.6 180.9 

Surplus (Deficit) $ 17.1 $ (3.7) 

Transferred to PSRHBF in 2007 (17.1) 

Surplus (Deficit) After Transfer $ -
* Expected employer and employee contributions 

** Excess of contribution benefits paid as estimated by OPM 

As explained above, the “supplemental liability” payments were suspended 
until 2017 by  P.L.109-435. At that time, OPM will perform an actuarial 
valuation and determine whether additional “supplemental liability” 
payments are necessary. Accordingly, no “supplemental liability” payment 
was made in 2007. The “supplemental liability” payment in 2006 was 
$257 million. 

Note 11 – Workers’ compensation 
We pay for workers’ compensation costs under a program administered by 
DOL. These costs, recorded as an operating expense, include employees’ 
medical expenses, payments for continuation of wages, and DOL adminis-
trative fees. 

Our liability at September 30, 2007, represents the estimated present value 
of the total amount we expect to pay in the future for postal workers injured 
through the end of 2007. The estimated total cost of a claim is based upon 
the severity of the injury, the age of the injured employee, the estimated 
duration of payments to the employee, the trend of our experience with 
such an injury, and other factors. 

We estimated our total liability for future workers’ compensation costs to 
be to be $7,771 million at the end of 2007 and $7,863 million at the end of 
2006. The payout period for this liability will, for some claimants currently 
on the rolls, be for the rest of their lives. 

The liability is sensitive to changes in inflation and discount rates. An 
increase of 1% in the assumptions would decrease our estimate of the 
liability by approximately $603 million. A decrease of 1% would increase 
our estimate of the liability by approximately $904 million. 

In 2007, we engaged an independent actuarial consulting firm to perform 
an actuarial valuation of our workers’ compensation liability at September 

30, 2007. They are also assisting us in developing our own model, which 
we plan to implement in 2008. The methodology employed in the actuary’s 
model is similar to that which will be employed in our new model. 

The standard actuarial valuation techniques used in estimating the workers 
compensation liability at September 30, 2007 included the paid loss 
development and the incremental frequency / severity methods. The paid 
loss development method estimates the liability based on the historical 
pattern of payments observed over many years. The frequency / severity 
method estimates liability by considering not only the cost, but the number 
of claims payments over many years. The frequency / severity method 
requires that we make explicit assumptions about future changes in the 
average payment amounts due to inflation or other cost increases. Both 
methods used in calculating the 2007 workers’ compensation liability are 
generally accepted actuarial techniques and are equally valid for estimating 
a liability such as ours. Accordingly, we used an average of the results of 
the two methods in determining our liability as of September 30, 2007. 

During 2007, we also conducted a review of the inflation and discount rates 
used to determine the present value of estimated future workers’ compen-
sation payments. Separate analyses of the appropriate inflation rates for 
medical and compensation portions of the liability were performed, utilizing 
forecasts of medical inflation and inflation in the general economy. Due to 
the differences between medical and compensation claims in the average 
length of time that claimants stay on the rolls, we validated our assumptions 
and methodology with an independent actuarial firm. Appropriate discount 
rates were determined using forecasted rates of return on baskets of 
Treasury securities of varying durations. 

The workers’ compensation liability estimation technique used in 2006 and 
prior years utilized a net discount rate, which was the estimated difference 
between the expected return on investments in a basket of Treasury securi-
ties offset by the estimated inflation rate for medical costs and wages. The 
net discount rate in 2006 was 3.3% for compensation claims and -0.8% 
for medical claims. The new model uses separate calculations for returns 
on investments and inflation factors rather than a net discount rate. The 
rates used in the new model are returns on investments for compensation 
claims of 5.6% and wage inflation of 3.0%. For medical claims the new 
model uses 5.4% for returns on investments and 5.0% for medical future 
inflation. 

The total change to our liability as a result of the changes in actuarial 
valuation techniques, including various individually insignificant underlying 
assumptions, and inflation and discount rates was $685 million. This is 
shown is the table below. 

Workers’ Compensation 
Assumption Changes 

Old 
Assumptions 

Current 
Assumptions 

Net 
Reduction 

(Dollars in millions) 

Compensation Claims $ 5,565 $ 5,272 $ 293 

Medical Claims 2,820 2,428 392 

Total Liability $ 8,385 $ 7,700 $ 685 
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In 2007, we recorded $880 million in workers’ compensation expense, 
compared to the $1,279 million in 2006, and $838 million recorded in 
2005. The effect of the changes discussed above is accounted for as a 
change in accounting estimate, as defined by GAAP. 

In addition to the cost of workers’ compensation claims, OWCP charges us 
an administrative fee for processing claims. In 2007, the administrative fee, 
which is included in the expense above, was $49 million, compared to $45 
million in 2006 and $56 million in 2005. 

Note 12 – Revenue forgone 
Our operating revenue includes accruals for revenue forgone. Revenue 
is forgone when Congress mandates that we provide mail services for 
designated mailers at free or reduced rates. Congress then appropriates 
money to reimburse us for the revenue that we have forgone in providing 
these services. 

We estimate the amount of services that will be provided during a given 
year and forward a funding request to Congress. At the end of the year 
we reconcile this request with the actual usage. Depending upon whether 
actual usage is higher or lower than our estimate, we will request additional 
funding or return the excess funding via a reduction to our next revenue 
forgone funding request. 

In 2007 we included $63 million of revenue forgone as operating revenue, 
$99 million in 2006, and $109 million in 2005. We record requested 
amounts as government receivables until the appropriations are received. 

The Revenue Forgone Reform Act of 1993 authorized Congress to make 
42 annual payments of $29 million each, beginning in 1994 through 
2035. These payments are reimbursement for two purposes: services we 
performed in 1991, 1992, and 1993 for which we have not yet been fully 
paid; and for shortfalls in the reimbursement for the costs we incurred 
for processing and delivering certain nonprofit mail entitled to statutorily 
reduced costs from 1994 through 1998. 

The future payments authorized by the Revenue Forgone Reform Act of 
1993 total $1,218 million for which we calculated the present value, at 7% 
interest, to be approximately $390 million and recognized the $390 million 
as revenue during fiscal years 1991 through 1998. The discounted present 
value of the remaining future payments as of the years ended September 
30 was $353 million in 2007 and $357 million in 2006. 

The total receivable for revenue forgone as of the years ended September 
30 was $476 million in 2007 and $490 million in 2006. 
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Operating Statistics 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

(Actual numbers, unaudited) 

Career Employees 

Headquarters and HQ Related Employees 

Headquarters ** 2,856 2,761 2,654 2,708 1,867 

Headquarters - Field Support 

Units * / ** 4,527 4,402 4,333 3,396 4,104 

Inspection Service - Field 2,991 3,130 3,443 3,648 3,770 

Inspector General 1,147 1,071 843 782 723 

Total HQ and HQ Related Employees 11,521 11,364 11,273 10,534 10,464 

Field Employees 

Area Offices * 1,281 1,395 1,420 2,196 2,205 

Postmasters / Installation Heads 25,285 25,429 25,322 25,519 25,509 

Supervisors / Managers 32,635 33,201 33,234 33,635 35,360 

Professional Administration 

and Technical Personnel 8,058 8,539 8,945 9,168 9,436 

Clerks 204,145 213,920 221,644 226,183 242,276 

Nurses 160 166 167 167 171 

Mail Handlers 57,882 57,158 56,028 54,769 56,776 

City Delivery Carriers 222,132 224,400 228,278 228,140 229,404 

Motor Vehicle Operators 8,726 8,715 8,689 8,628 8,778 

Rural Delivery Carriers - Full Time 67,584 66,344 64,335 62,762 61,611 

Building and Equipment 

Maintenance Personnel 39,948 39,986 39,893 40,263 41,469 

Vehicle Maintenance Employees 5,405 5,521 5,488 5,521 5,576 

Total Field Employees 673,241 684,774 693,443 696,951 718,571 

Total Career Employees 684,762 696,138 704,716 707,485 729,035 

Noncareer Employees 

Casuals 22,078 22,518 19,182 20,529 17,373 

Nonbargaining Temporary 1,244 1,135 1,185 1,138 910 

Rural Part Time: 

Subs / RCA / RCR / AUX 60,444 59,087 57,411 56,403 56,451 

Postmaster Relief and 

Leave Replacements 12,169 12,188 12,046 12,157 12,161 

Transitional Employees 5,232 5,133 8,460 9,884 11,025 

Total Noncareer Employees 101,167 100,061 98,284 100,111 97,920 

Total Employees 785,929 796,199 803,000 807,596 826,955 

* Beginning 2005, employees in the Sales organization were reported as Headquarters Related instead of in the Area Offices. 

** Beginning 2004, field employees performing Headquarters functions were reclassified as Headquarters Related. 
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Operating Statistics 

Category of Service 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

(In millions of units indicated, unaudited) 

First-Class Mail 

Revenue $ 37,563.8 $ 37,038.8 $ 36,061.8 $ 36,376.8 $ 37,048.3 

Pieces, Number 95,898.1 97,617.5 98,071.0 97,926.4 99,058.7 

Weight, Pounds 4,332.9 4,376.0 4,369.9 4,389.9 4,236.3 

Standard Mail 

Revenue $ 20,779.2 $ 19,876.8 $ 18,953.5 $ 18,122.5 $ 17,231.3 

Pieces, Number 103,516.1 102,459.6 100,942.1 95,563.5 90,492.2 

Weight, Pounds 11,815.2 11,771.2 11,656.5 11,148.3 10,827.6 

Priority Mail 

Revenue $ 5,233.3 $ 5,042.5 $ 4,633.6 $ 4,421.4 $ 4,494.3 

Pieces, Number 896.9 924.2 887.5 848.6 859.6 

Weight, Pounds 1,796.0 1,809.5 1,690.7 1,623.3 1,622.9 

Package Services 

Revenue $ 2,306.1 $ 2,259.0 $ 2,201.1 $ 2,206.9 $ 2,215.7 

Pieces, Number 1,162.8 1,174.6 1,165.5 1,131.9 1,128.5 

Weight, Pounds 3,308.5 3,459.9 3,660.2 3,632.6 3,793.8 

Periodicals 

Revenue $ 2,187.9 $ 2,215.1 $ 2,160.8 $ 2,191.8 $ 2,234.8 

Pieces, Number 8,795.8 9,022.6 9,070.0 9,135.3 9,319.9 

Weight, Pounds 3,895.6 4,040.7 4,025.6 4,067.5 3,995.0 

Express Mail 

Revenue $ 950.6 $ 918.1 $ 872.3 $ 852.8 $ 888.1 

Pieces, Number 54.8 55.9 55.5 54.1 55.8 

Weight, Pounds 52.5 53.8 51.7 50.6 53.2 

International Mail * 

Revenue $ 2,035.8 $ 1,793.7 $ 1,764.8 $ 1,695.8 $ 1,586.9 

Pieces, Number 832.6 792.9 851.5 843.8 805.2 

Weight, Pounds 268.6 257.2 241.8 228.7 213.1 

Mailgrams ** 

Revenue $ - $ - $ 0.8 $ 0.7 $ 1.2 

Pieces, Number - - 1.9 1.6 2.8 

U.S. Postal Service 

Pieces, Number 1,008.4 1,015.9 621.3 529.3 391.6 

Weight, Pounds 140.6 128.1 110.7 105.4 80.1 

Free Matter for the Blind 

Pieces, Number 68.5 74.5 76.4 71.1 70.4 

Weight, Pounds 33.3 35.4 34.4 34.6 29.8 

Totals 

Revenue $ 71,056.7 $ 69,144.0 $ 66,648.7 $ 65,868.7 $ 65,700.6 

Pieces, Number 212,234.0 213,137.7 211,742.7 206,105.6 202,184.7 

Weight, Pounds 25,643.2 25,931.8 25,841.5 25,280.9 24,851.9 
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Operating Statistics 

Category of Service 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

(In millions of units indicated, unaudited) 

Registered Mail *** 

Revenue $ 68.4 $ 72.8 $ 77.2 $ 75.0 $ 82.1 

Number of articles 6.1 7.1 7.7 7.4 8.2 

Certified Mail *** 

Revenue $ 698.2 $ 631.6 $ 600.6 $ 629.5 $ 624.2 

Number of articles 280.2 265.7 261.1 273.7 271.4 

Insurance *** 

Revenue $ 163.5 $ 136.7 $ 132.2 $ 127.8 $ 138.3 

Number of articles 58.6 52.8 53.6 53.2 59.1 

Delivery Receipt Services **** 

Revenue $ 662.2 $ 610.1 $ 569.2 $ 538.0 $ 503.1 

Number of articles 1,112.9 1,018.8 953.8 840.6 748.8 

Collect on Delivery 

Revenue $ 9.6 $ 9.8 $ 9.3 $ 11.4 $ 11.1 

Number of articles 1.4 1.5 1.5 1.9 1.9 

Money Orders 

Revenue $ 212.2 $ 193.3 $ 208.2 $ 230.7 $ 230.7 

Face value of issues (non-add) $ 27,194.0 $ 28,277.4 $ 28,723.0 $ 28,782.2 $ 29,151.7 

Number of articles 163.3 176.2 181.0 188.0 202.5 

Other 

Box rent revenue $ 836.9 $ 813.7 $ 791.5 $ 779.9 $ 788.1 

Stamped envelope and 

card revenue $ 16.9 $ 25.2 $ 21.0 $ 21.9 $ 24.4 

Other revenue, net $ 990.4 $ 914.2 $ 740.3 $ 676.8 $ 395.8 

Totals 

Special Services revenue $ 3,658.3 $ 3,407.4 $ 3,149.5 $ 3,091.0 $ 2,797.8 

Mail revenue $ 71,056.7 $ 69,144.0 $ 66,648.7 $ 65,868.7 $ 65,700.7 

Revenue forgone $ 63.1 $ 99.0 $ 109.2 $ 36.3 $ 30.7 

Total Operating Revenue $ 74,778.1 $ 72,650.4 $ 69,907.4 $ 68,996.0 $ 68,529.2 

* With the simplification of International Mail services we are reporting one International Mail category. 

** Mailgram service has been discontinued. 

*** Return receipts have been broken out from Registered Mail, Certified Mail and Insurance special service categories and reported in Delivery Receipt Services. 

**** Delivery Receipt Services contains Return Receipts for special services, Merchandise Return and Delivery Confirmation. 
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Operating Statistics 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

(In actual units indicated, unaudited) 

Post Offices, Stations and Branches 

Post Offices 27,276 27,318 27,385 27,505 27,556 

Classified Stations, Branches and Carrier Annexes 5,419 5,557 5,622 5,623 5,796 

Contract Postal Units 3,131 3,014 3,116 2,889 2,777 

Community Post Offices 895 937 1,019 1,142 1,450 

Total Offices, Stations and Branches 36,721 36,826 37,142 37,159 37,579 

Residential Delivery * 

City Delivery Carriers 79,470,894 78,949,153 78,524,242 77,967,046 77,490,203 

Rural 37,022,488 36,068,838 34,958,986 33,817,615 33,324,799 

PO Box 15,635,480 15,615,744 15,614,801 15,634,610 15,730,694 

Highway Contract 2,473,323 2,345,255 2,243,520 2,162,772 2,153,056 

Total Residential Delivery 134,602,185 132,978,990 131,341,549 129,582,043 128,698,752 

Business Delivery * 

City Delivery Carriers 7,411,582 7,343,020 7,280,384 7,185,300 7,208,608 

Rural 1,360,478 1,297,022 1,230,645 1,172,499 1,192,144 

PO Box 4,548,973 4,490,102 4,412,559 4,321,862 4,203,433 

Highway Contract 69,304 65,062 61,228 58,084 58,339 

Total Business Delivery 13,390,337 13,195,206 12,984,816 12,737,745 12,662,524 

Total Delivery Points 147,992,522 146,174,196 144,326,365 142,319,788 141,361,276 

Change in Delivery Points 1,818,326 1,847,831 2,006,577 958,512 1,908,797 

* The table above shows delivery growth of 958,512 in FY 2004. The absolute growth is 1,782,900 deliveries if FY 2003 were adjusted to reflect the current reporting procedure as implemented in FY 2004. 
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Financial History Summary 

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 

(Dollars in millions) 

Statements of Operations 

Total revenue $ 74,973 $ 72,817 $ 69,993 $ 69,029 $ 68,764 

Total expense *** 80,115 71,917 68,548 65,964 64,896 

Net (Loss) Income $ (5,142) $ 900 $ 1,445 $ 3,065 $ 3,868 

Operating revenue $ 74,715 $ 72,551 $ 69,798 $ 68,960 $ 68,498 

Revenue foregone 63 99 109 36 31 

Total operating revenue 74,778 72,650 69,907 68,996 68,529 

Compensation and benefits*** 54,186 54,665 52,449 50,821 49,295 

Retiree health benefits *** 10,084 1,637 1,495 1,313 1,133 

Other expenses 15,835 15,379 14,337 13,717 13,474 

Total operating expenses *** 80,105 71,681 68,281 65,851 63,902 

Income from operations (5,327) 969 1,626 3,145 4,627 

Interest and investment income 195 167 86 33 58 

Interest expense deferred retirement - (231) (263) (103) (116) 

Other interest expense ** (10) (5) (4) (10) (694) 

Emergency preparedness, net - - - - (7) 

Net (Loss) Income $ (5,142) $ 900 $ 1,445 $ 3,065 $ 3,868 

Balance Sheets 

Current assets * $ 1,859 $ 2,041 $ 1,933 $ 1,851 $ 3,607 

Property, equipment, and other assets 23,988 26,447 23,065 22,858 23,419 

Total assets $ 25,847 $ 28,488 $ 24,998 $ 24,709 $ 27,026 

Current liabilities * $ 13,778 $ 11,613 $ 9,160 $ 10,800 $ 16,753 

Other Liabilities * 10,935 10,599 10,462 9,978 9,407 

Equity 1,134 6,276 5,376 3,931 866 

Total liabilities and net capital $ 25,847 $ 28,488 $ 24,998 $ 24,709 $ 27,026 

Changes in Net Capital (deficiency) 

Beginning balances: 

Capital contributions of the U.S. government $ 3,034 $ 3,034 $ 3,034 $ 3,034 $ 3,034 

Retained earnings (deficit) since reorganization 3,242 2,342 897 (2,168) (6,036) 

Total beginning balance net capital (deficiency) 6,276 5,376 3,931 866 (3,002) 

Net (loss) income (5,142) 900 1,445 3,065 3,868 

Total Ending Balance Net Capital $ 1,134 $ 6,276 $ 5,376 $ 3,931 $ 866 
* Certain reclassifications have been made to previously reported amounts. 

** 2003 Includes $360 million in debt repurchase expense. 

*** The net impact of P.L.109-435 legislation was $6.8 billion of additional expense in 2007 ($8.4 billion in additional retiree health benefits less $1.6 billion in CSRS savings). 
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Selected Quarterly Financial Data 

2007 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

(Dollars in millions, unaudited) 

Operating revenue $ 19,663 $ 18,292 $ 18,361 $ 18,462 

Total operating expenses 22,443 19,431 19,057 19,174 

(Loss) from operations (2,780) (1,139) (696) (712) 

Other revenue (expense) 48 61 37 39 

Net (Loss) $ (2,732) $ (1,078) $ (659) $ (673) 

2006 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

(Dollars in millions, unaudited) 

Operating revenue $ 18,498 $ 18,615 $ 17,835 $ 17,702 

Total operating expenses 17,730 17,741 17,778 18,432 

Income (loss) from operations 768 874 57 (730) 

Other revenue (expense) (40) (28) 24 (25) 

Net (Loss) Income $ 728 $ 846 $ 81 $ (755) 

2005 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 

(Dollars in millions, unaudited) 

Operating revenue $ 18,786 $ 17,296 $ 16,847 $ 16,978 

Total operating expenses 17,059 16,986 17,022 17,214 

Income (loss) from operations 1,727 310 (175) (236) 

Other revenue (expense) (45) (35) (65) (36) 

Net (Loss) Income $ 1,682 $ 275 $ (240) $ (272) 

Glossary 

Accruals. Revenue and expenses that are recorded as they occur, even 
though they may not have actually been paid. 

Amortize. To reduce the value of an asset through regular charges to 
income over time; or to write off expenses by prorating them over a period 
of time. 

Appropriation. Public funds set aside by Congress for a specifc purpose. 

Asset. An economic resource that is expected to be of beneft in the future. 

Cautionary statements. Statements contained in Management’s Discus-
sion and Analysis that represent our best estimate of the trends we know 
about, the trends we anticipate and the trends we think are relevant to our 
future operations. 

Capitalize. To treat an expenditure as an asset; or to compute the present 
value of a future payment that will be paid over a period of time. 

Contribution. The difference between the revenue from a class of mail 
and that class’s volume-variable costs. For example, if a class of mail has 
revenue of $1.5 billion and volume-variable costs of $1 billion, its contribu-
tion is $500 million, which means that this class of mail covers its costs and 
contributes $500 million to the common costs of all mail services. 

Contingent Liability. A potential liability that is contingent on a future 
event. 

Delivery Confrmation. A special service that provides the date of delivery 
or attempted delivery for Priority Mail and Standard Mail parcels, Bound 
Printed Matter and Library Mail. 

Depreciate. To periodically reduce the estimated value of an asset over the 
course of its useful life. 
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Glossary 

Direct Mail. A form of advertising often employed by businesses to reach 
targeted groups of potential customers by mail. 

Enhanced Carrier Route. A subclass of Standard Mail for mailpieces 
weighing less than 16 ounces and prepared in carrier route sequence. 

Equity. The difference between the value of all assets less all liabilities. 

Express Mail. The Postal Service’s premium delivery service, providing 
guaranteed overnight delivery for documents and packages weighing up to 
70 pounds. Both domestic and international services are offered. 

First-Class Mail. A class of mail including letters, postcards and all matter 
sealed or otherwise closed against inspection. This service is required for 
personal correspondence, handwritten or typewritten letters and bills or 
statements of account. 

Fiscal year. As used in the fnancial section of this report, the Postal 
Service fscal year, which is the 12-month period during which the Postal 
Service keeps accounts, beginning Oct. 1 and closing Sept. 30. 

Fixed Asset. Any tangible property such as land, buildings, machinery and 
equipment, furniture, and leasehold improvements. 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The rules and 
procedures of accepted accounting practice as defned by the Financial 
Accounting Standards Board. 

Impaired Asset. When the market value of an economic resource has 
been permanently lowered below the recorded value of the asset. 

Inspector General. The Inspector General is appointed by and reports 
directly to the Governors of the Postal Service and is independent of postal 
management. The Offce of Inspector General (OIG) primarily investigates 
and evaluates programs and operations of the Postal Service to ensure the 
effciency and integrity of the postal system. 

Leasehold. An asset that gives the Postal Service the right to use property 
under a lease. 

Liability. Any debt or obligation which is owed by the Postal Service at 
some future period of time. 

operating Expense. Expenses that are incurred in providing our primary 
business services and products. 

operating Margin. A fnancial indication calculated by dividing income 
from operations by operating revenue. 

operating Revenue. Revenues that are earned from our primary business 
services and products. 

Package services. Mailing category offered for any merchandise or 
printed matter weighing up to 70 pounds. These services include Parcel 
Post, Bound Printed Matter, Library Mail and Media Mail. 

Payable. Money that is owed by the Postal Service. 

Periodicals. A class of mail formerly called second-class mail that consists 
of magazines, newspapers and other publications. 

Postal Inspection service. The investigative arm of the Postal Service 
responsible for investigating criminal acts involving the mails and misuse of 
the postal system. 

Postal Regulatory Commission (PRC) (formerly the Postal Rate 
Commission). An independent federal establishment with oversight 
responsibility for the Postal Service to review and approve rates, review 
fnancial data, and hears and rule on rate and service complaints. 

Prepaid. Payments made in advance of service being provided. 

Present Value. The value today of a future payment that is discounted at 
a stated rate of compound interest. For example, the present value of $100 
that will be paid to the Postal Service 10 years from now is about $38.55, 
if we discount that $100 at a rate equal to 10% interest compounded 
annually. 

Priority Mail. Priority mail is a 1-3-day non-guaranteed delivery service. 

Receivable. Money that is owed to the Postal Service. 

Recognize. To record in Postal Service accounts as income or expense. 

special services. A category of services that add value to mail by provid-
ing added security, proof of delivery or loss recovery. These services include: 
Certifed Mail, Registered Mail, Delivery Confrmation, Signature Confrma-
tion and insurance up to $1,000. 

standard Mail. Mailing service offered for any item, including advertise-
ments and merchandise weighing less than 16 ounces that is not required 
to be sent using First-Class Mail. Standard Mail is typically used for bulk 
advertising to multiple delivery addresses. 

u.s. Mail. Any mailable matter that is accepted for mail processing and 
delivery by the Postal Service. 

universal service. The Postal Service’s mandate and commitment to the 
nation to provide mail delivery service at uniform and reasonable rates to 
everyone, everywhere. 

Workshare. Tasks performed by mailers that otherwise would be done by 
the Postal Service, such as, preparing, sorting, barcoding, and transporting 
mail. Reduced postage rates are offered to these customers. 

The following are among the many trademarks owned by the United States Confirmation™, Certified Mail™, Delivery Confirmation™, Registered 
Postal Service: United States Postal Service®, U.S. Postal Service®, USPS®, Mail™, Post Office Box™, Zip Code™, Carrier Pickup™, Quick, Easy, 
First-Class Mail®, USPS.com®, Click-N-Ship®, Automated Postal Center®, Convenient™ and Postmaster General™. The Sonic Eagle Logo, Round 
APC®, Express Mail®, Priority Mail®, Standard Mail®, Parcel Post®, Media Top Collection Box design, Letter Carrier Uniform design, and the Mail 
Mail®, Customized Market Mail®, United States Postal Service Office Truck Design are also registered trademarks belonging to the United States 
of the Inspector General®, Post Office™, Postal Service™, Signature Postal Service. 
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2008 Postage Stamps 

Bette Davis (Legends of Hollywood) 
Charles W. Chesnutt (Black Heritage) 
“Take Me Out to the Ball Game” 
Minnesota Statehood 
Vintage Black Cinema 
American Scientists 
The Art of Disney: Imagination 
American Journalists 
America on the Move: Tail Fins and Chrome 
Charles and Ray Eames 
Olympic Games – Beijing 
Lunar New Year: Year of the Rat 

Charles W. Chesnutt 
(Black Heritage) 

Love: All Heart 
Albert Bierstadt (American Treasures) 
Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings (Literary Arts) 
Christmas: “Virgin and Child with the Young 
John the Baptist” by Sandro Botticelli 
Flags of Our Nation 
Nature of America: Great Lakes Dunes 
Latin Jazz 
Alzheimer’s Awareness (Social Awareness) 
Holiday Nutcrackers 
Flags of Our Nation 
Mount St. Mary’s University stamped card 

“Take Me Out to the Ball Game” Minnesota Statehood Bette Davis (Legends of 
Hollywood) 

Vintage Black Cinema 
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The Art of Disney: Imagination 

America on the Move: Tail Fins and Chrome 

American Journalists 

American Scientists 
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Lunar New Year: Year of the Rat 

Olympic Games – Beijing 

Charles and Ray Eames Love: All Heart 

Albert Bierstadt (American Treasures) Marjorie Kinnan Rawlings (Literary Arts) 
Christmas: “Virgin and Child with the Young 
John the Baptist” by Sandro Botticelli 

Flags of Our Nation 
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Latin Jazz 

Alzheimer’s Awareness (Social Awareness) 
Nature of America: Great Lakes Dunes 

Mount St. Mary’s University stamped card 

Holiday Nutcrackers 

Flags of Our Nation 
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